BCP

Council

Notice of Eastern BCP Planning Committee

Date: Thursday, 8 May 2025 at 10.00 am

Venue: HMS Phoebe, BCP Civic Centre, Bournemouth BH2 6DY

Chair:
To be elected

Vice Chair:
To be elected

Membership of the Eastern BCP Planning Committee to be appointed at the full Council meeting on
6 May 2025.

All Members of the Eastern BCP Planning Committee are summoned to attend this meeting
to consider the items of business set out on the agenda below.

The press and public are welcome to view the live stream of this meeting at the following
link:

https://democracy.bcpcouncil.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?MId=6123

if you would like any further information on the items to be considered at the meeting please
contact: Jill Holyoake on 01202 127564 or email democratic.services@bcpcouncil.gov.uk

Press enquiries should be directed to the Press Office: Tel: 01202 118686 or
email press.office@bcpcouncil.gov.uk

This notice and all the papers mentioned within it are available at democracy.bcpcouncil.gov.uk

Opzx.10

GRAHAM FARRANT
CHIEF EXECUTIVE DEBAT

29 April 2025

Available online and
on the Mod.gov app

BCP Council Civic Centre, Bourne Avenue, Bournemouth BH2 6DY



Maintaining and promoting high standards of conduct
Councillors should act solely
Declaring interests at meetings in terms of the public

Familiarise yourself with the Councillor Code of Conduct which can be found in interest
Part 6 of the Council’'s Constitution. Integrity

Before the meeting, read the agenda and reports to see if the matters to be Councillors must avoid
discussed at the meeting concern your interests placing themselves under

any obligation to people or
organisations that might try
inappropriately to influence
them in their work. They
should not act or take
decisions in order to gain
financial or other material
benefits for themselves,
their family, or their friends.
They must declare and
resolve any interests and
relationships

Objectivity

Councillors must act and
take decisions impartially,
fairly and on merit, using the
best evidence and without
discrimination or bias

Accountability

Councillors are accountable
to the public for their
decisions and actions and
must submit themselves to
the scrutiny necessaryto
ensure this

Openness

Councillors should act and
take decisions in an open
and transparent manner.
Information should not be
withheld from the public
unless there are clear and
lawful reasons for so doing

Honesty & Integrity

Councillors should act with
honesty and integrity and
should not place themselves

Does the matter directly relate to one of my Disclosable Pecuniary Interests (DPIs)
(set outin Table 1)?

Does the matter directly relate to the
| have a DPI and cannot take part without finances or wellbeing of one of my Other
a dispensation Registerable Interests (ORIs)
(set out in Table 2)?

| have an ORI and must disclose it.
| may speak as a member of the public but
not discuss or vote and must leave the

Does it directly relate to the finances or
wellbeing of me, a relative or a close
associate?

| have a NRI and must disclose it.
| may speak as a member of the public but
not discuss or vote and must leave the

Does it affect the finances or wellbeing of
me, a relative or a close associate or any
of my ORIs?

Am | or they affected to a greater extent that
most people? And would a reasonable person
think my judgementis clouded?

| have an interest and must disclose it.
| may speak as a member of the public but I have no interest to disclose
not discuss or vote and must leave the
room

What are the principles of bias and pre-determination and how do they affect my
participation in the meeting?

Bias and predetermination are common law concepts. If they affect you, your
participation in the meeting may call into question the decision arrived at on the
item.

Bias Test Predetermination Test in situations where their
In all the circumstances, would it honesty and integrity may
lead a fair minded and informed At the time of making the decision, be questioned
observertg ggnclude that there was did the decision maker have a closed Leadership
a real possibility or a real danger that mind?
the decision maker was biased? Councillors should exhibit
. 4 these principles in their own
) . : 2 behaviour. They should
If a councillor appears to be biased or to have predetermined their decision, actively promote and
they must NOT participate in the meeting. robustly support the
. . . L - principles and be willing to
For more information or advice please contact the Monitoring Officer challenge poor behaviour

(janie.berry@bcpcouncil.gov.uk) wherever it occurs




AGENDA

ltems to be considered while the meeting is open to the public

Apologies

To receive any apologies for absence from Members.

Substitute Members

To receive information on any changes in the membership of the
Committee.

Note — When a member of a Committee is unable to attend a meeting of a
Committee or Sub-Committee, the relevant Political Group Leader (or their
nominated representative) may, by notice to the Monitoring Officer (or their
nominated representative) prior to the meeting, appoint a substitute
member from within the same Political Group. The contact details on the
front of this agenda should be used for notifications.

Election of Chair

To elect a Chair of the Eastern BCP Planning Committee for the Municipal
Year 2025/26.

Election of Vice Chair

To elect a Vice Chair of the Eastern BCP Planning Committee for the
Municipal Year 2025/26.

Declarations of Interests

Councillors are requested to declare any interests on items included in this
agenda. Please refer to the workflow on the preceding page for guidance.

Declarations received will be reported at the meeting.

Confirmation of Minutes

To confirm and sign as a correct record the minutes of the meeting held on
17 April 2025.

Public Issues

To receive any requests to speak on planning applications which the
Planning Committee is considering at this meeting.

The deadline for the submission of requests to speak is 10.00am on
Wednesday 7 May 2025 [10.00am of the working day before the meeting].
Requests should be submitted to Democratic Services using the contact
details on the front of this agenda.

Further information about how public speaking is managed at meetings is
contained in the Planning Committee Protocol for Public Speaking and
Statements, a copy of which is included with this agenda sheet and is also
published on the website on the following page:




https://democracy.bcpcouncil.gov.uk/mgCommitteeDetails.aspx?1D=613

Summary of speaking arrangements as follows:
Speaking at Planning Committee (in person or virtually):

e There will be a maximum combined time of five minutes to speak in
objection and up to two persons may speak within the five minutes.

e There will be a further maximum combined time of five minutes to speak in
support and up to two persons may speak within the five minutes.

e No speaker may speak for more than half this time (two and a half minutes)
UNLESS there are no other requests to speak received by the deadline OR
it is with the agreement of the other speaker.

Anyone who has registered to speak by the deadline may, as an alternative
to speaking/for use in default, submit a written statement to be read out on
their behalf. This must be provided to Democratic Services by 10.00am of
the working day before the meeting, must not exceed 450 words and will be
treated as amounting to two and a half minutes of speaking time.

Please refer to the full Protocol document for further guidance.

Note: The public speaking procedure is separate from and is not intended
to replicate or replace the procedure for submitting a written representation
on a planning application to the Planning Offices during the consultation
period.

Schedule of Planning Applications

To consider the planning applications as listed below.

See planning application reports circulated with the agenda, as updated by
the agenda addendum sheet to be published one working day before the
meeting.

Councillors are requested where possible to submit any technical
questions on planning applications to the Case Officer at least 48
hours before the meeting to ensure this information can be provided
at the meeting.

The running order in which planning applications will be considered will be
as listed on this agenda sheet.

The Chair retains discretion to propose an amendment to the running order
at the meeting ifit is considered expedient to do so.

Members will appreciate that the copy drawings attached to planning
application reports are reduced from the applicants’ original and detail, in
some cases, may be difficult to read. To search for planning applications,
please use the following link:



https://democracy.bcpcouncil.gov.uk/mgCommitteeDetails.aspx?ID=613

b)

https://Mmww.bcpcouncil.gov.uk/planning -and-b uilding-control/search-and-
comment-on-planning-applications

Councillors are advised that if they wish to refer to specific drawings or
plans which are not included in these papers, they should contact the Case
Officer at least 48 hours before the meeting to ensure that these can be
made available.

To view Local Plans, again, the following link will take you to the main
webpage where you can click on a tile to view the local plan for that area.
The link is:

https://mww.bcpcouncil.gov.uk/Planning -and-building-control/Planning-
policy/Current-Local-Plans/Current-Local-Plan.aspx

The Captains Club Hotel, Wick Lane, Christchurch BH23 1HU
Christchurch Town ward

8/23/0616/FUL

An extension to the existing hotel to create additional hotel bedrooms and
suites and ancillary plant rooms.

The Bridge, 947 Christchurch Road, Bournemouth, BH7 6AZ
Boscombe East and Pokesdown ward

7-2024-5331-

Demolition of existing flats and Outline Submission for erection of a building

of up to seven storeys for up to 46 apartments (with all matters for
consideration other than landscaping).

44 Minterne Road Christchurch BH23 3LE
Mudeford, Stanpit and West Highcliffe
P/25/00365/HOU

Bungalow re-modelling. Demolish Garage, erect side & rear extensions,
enlarge roof to form first floor accommodation.

17 -58

59 - 88

89 - 110

No other items of business can be considered unless the Chair decides the matter is urgent for reasons that must
be specified and recorded in the Minutes.


https://www.bcpcouncil.gov.uk/planning-and-building-control/search-and-comment-on-planning-applications
https://www.bcpcouncil.gov.uk/planning-and-building-control/search-and-comment-on-planning-applications
https://www.bcpcouncil.gov.uk/Planning-and-building-control/Planning-policy/Current-Local-Plans/Current-Local-Plan.aspx
https://www.bcpcouncil.gov.uk/Planning-and-building-control/Planning-policy/Current-Local-Plans/Current-Local-Plan.aspx

This page is intentionally left blank



Agenda ltem 6

—1-
BOURNEMOUTH, CHRISTCHURCH AND POOLE COUNCIL
EASTERN BCP PLANNING COMMITTEE
Minutes of the Meeting held on 17 April 2025 at 10.00 am

Present:-

Clir P Hilliard — Chair

Present: Clir A Chapmanlaw (In place of Clir M Gillett), Clir J Clements,
Clir G Martin, Clir Dr F Rice, Clir J Salmon, Clir T Slade, Clir T Trent
(In place of Clir M Le Poidevin) and Clir L Williams

Also in Clir G Farquhar
attendance:
99. Apologies

Apologies were received from Clir D Flagg, Clir M Gillett, Clir M Le Poidevin
and ClIr M Tarling.

100. Substitute Members

Notification was received that Cllr A Chapmanlaw was substituting for ClIr
M Gillett and Clir T Trent was substituting for Clir M Le Poidevin for this
meeting.

101. Declarations of Interests

Regarding 27 Wolverton Road, the following declarations were made for
transparency:

e Clr G Martin advised that she lived in the ward quite close to the
property

e Clir L Williams reported that he had objected to HMOs in the past but
confirmed that he was not predetermined

102. Confirmation of Minutes

The minutes of the meeting held on 20 March 2025 were confirmed as an
accurate record for the Chair to sign.

103. Public Issues

The Chair advised that there were a number of requests to speak on the
planning application as detailed below.



104.

105.

—2_
EASTERN BCP PLANNING COMMITTEE
17 April 2025

Schedule of Planning Applications

The Committee considered a planning application report, a copy of which
had been circulated and which appears as Appendix A to these minutes in
the Minute Book.

27 Wolverton Road, Bournemouth BH7 6HU

Boscombe East and Pokesdown ward
7-2024-9356-C

Change of use of dwellinghouse (Class C3) into House in Multiple
Occupation (Class C4)

Public Representations
Objectors
+ Della Gwizdala
+ Leo Gwizdala

Applicant/Supporters
% Adelaide West

«» Diana Parrish

Ward Councillors
s ClIr George Farquhar

RESOLVED to GRANT permission in accordance with the
recommendation set out in the officer’s report

Voting: For — 7, Against — 0, Abstain — 2
Note: This item was deferred by the Committee on 20 March 2025 to

enable the officer's report to be revised to include reference to the
Boscombe and Pokesdown Neighbourhood Plan.

The meeting ended at 10.34 am




! !gen!a ‘tersnch!edule 4

PLANNING COMMITTEE - PROTOCOL FOR SPEAKING /
STATEMENTS AT PLANNING COMMITTEE

1. Introduction

1.1 The following protocol facilitates opportunities for applicant(s), objector(s) and
supporter(s) to express their views on planning applications which are to be
considered at a Planning Committee meeting. It does not therefore relate to
any other item considered at Planning Committee in respect of which public
speaking/questions shall only be permitted at the discretion of the Chair.

1.2  This protocol is separate from and is not intended to replicate or replace the
procedure for submitting a written representation on a planning application to
the Council during the consultation period.

1.3 The email address for any person who wishes to register a request to
speak and / or submit a statement for the purposes of this protocol or to
correspond with Democratic Services on any aspect of this protocol is
democratic.services@bcpcouncil.gov.uk

2. Order of presentation of an application

2.1 The running order in which planning applications are heard will usually follow
the order as appears on the agenda unless the Planning Committee otherwise
determines.

2.2 In considering each application the Committee will normally take contributions
in the following order:

a) presenting officer(s);
b) objector(s);
c) applicant(s) /supporter(s);

d) councillor who has called in an application (who is not a voting member of
the Planning Committee in relation to that application) / ward councillor(s);

e) questions and discussion by voting members of the Planning Committee,
which may include seeking points of clarification.

3. Guidance relating to the application of this protocol

3.1 The allocation of an opportunity to speak / provide a statement to be read out
at Planning Committee under this protocol is not intended as a guarantee of a
right to speak / have a statement read out.

3.2  The Chair has absolute discretion as to how this protocol shall be applied in
respect of any individual application so far as it relates to the conduct of the

1
9


mailto:democratic.services@bcpcouncil.gov.uk

meeting and as provided for in this protocol including whether in any
circumstance it should be waived, added to or otherwise modified. This
discretion includes the opportunity to speak (or submit a statement), varying
the speaking time allowed and the number of speakers. In the event of any
uncertainty as to the interpretation or application of any part of this protocol a
determination by the Chair will be conclusive.

3.3 A failure to make a request to speak / submit a statement in accordance with
any one or more of the requirements of this protocol will normally result in the
request / submission of the statement not being treated as validly made and
therefore not accepted.

4. Electronic facilities relating to Planning Committee

4.1. All electronic broadcasting and recording of a Planning Committee meeting by
the Council and the provision of an opportunity to speak remotely at such a
meeting is dependent upon such matters being accessible, operational and
useable during the meeting. As a consequence, a meeting other than a wholly
virtual meeting may proceed, including consideration of all applications relating
to it, even if it cannot be electronically broadcast, recorded and/or any person
is unable to speak / be heard at the time when the opportunity to do so on an
application is made available.

5. Attending in person at a Planning Committee meeting / wholly
virtual meetings

5.1. Unless otherwise stated on the Council’'s website and/or the agenda Planning
Committee will be held as a physical (in person) meeting. A Planning
Committee meeting will only be held as a wholly virtual meeting during such
time as a decision has been taken by BCP Council that committee meetings of
the Council may be held in this way. In the event of there being a discretion as
to whether a Planning Committee meeting shall be held as a wholly virtual
meeting, then the Head of Planning in consultation with the Chair shall be able
to determine whether such a discretion should be applied.

6. Provisions for speaking at Planning Committee (whether in
person or remotely)

6.1. Any applicant, objector or supporter who wishes to speak at a Planning
Committee meeting must register a request to speak in writing with Democratic
Services at democratic.services@bcpcouncil.gov.uk by 10.00 am of the
working day before the meeting.

6.2. A person registering a request to speak must:

a) make clear as to the application(s) on which they wish to speak and
whether they support or oppose the application; and

b) provide contact details including a telephone number and/or email address
at which they can be reached / advised that they have been given an
opportunity to speak.


mailto:democratic.services@bcpcouncil.gov.uk

6.3. There will be a maximum combined time of five minutes allowed for any
person(s) objecting to an application to speak. A further combined five minute
maximum will also be allowed for any supporter(s). Up to two people may
speak during each of these allotted times (the applicant(s) and any agent for
the applicant(s) will each count as separate speakers in support). No speaker
may speak for more than half this time (i.e. two and a half minutes) unless:

a) there is no other speaker who has also been allotted to speak for the
remainder of the five minutes allowed;

b) or the other allotted speaker fails to be present or is unable to be heard (in
the case of remote speaking), at the Planning Committee meeting at the
time when the opportunity to speak on the application is made available; or

c) the other allotted speaker expressly agrees to the speaker using more than
half of the total speaking time allowed.

6.4. If more than two people seek to register a wish to speak for either side, an
officer from Democratic Services may ask those seeking the opportunity to
speak to appoint up to two representatives to address the Planning Committee.
In the absence of agreement as to representatives, entitlement to speak will
normally be allocated in accordance with the order when a request was
received by Democratic Services. However, in the event of an applicant(s) and
/ or the agent of the applicant(s) wishing to speak in support of an application
such person(s) will be given the option to elect to speak in preference to any
other person registered to speak in support.

6.5. A person registered to speak may appoint a different person to speak on their
behalf. The person registered to speak should normally notify Democratic
Services of this appointment prior to the time that is made available to speak
on the application.

6.6. A person may at any time withdraw their request to speak by notifying
Democratic Services by email or in person on the day of that meeting.
However, where such a withdrawal is made after the deadline date for receipt
of requests then the available slot will not be made available for a new speaker.
In cases where more than two requests to speak within the allocated five
minutes were received by the deadline, Democratic Services will, where
practicable, reallocate the slot in date receipt order.

6.7. During consideration of a planning application at a Planning Committee
meeting, no question should be put or comment made to any councillor sitting
on the Planning Committee by any applicant, objector or supporter whether as
part of a speech or otherwise.



7.1,

8.1.

8.2.

8.3.

9.1.

10.

10.1.

Questions to person speaking under this protocol

Questions will not normally be asked of any person who has been given the
opportunity to speak for the purpose of this Protocol. However, the Chair at
their absolute discretion may raise points of clarification.

Speaking as a ward councillor or other BCP councillor
(whether in person or remotely)

Any ward councillor shall usually be afforded an opportunity to speak on an
application at the Planning Committee meeting at which it is considered. Every
ward councillor who is given the opportunity to speak will have up to five
minutes each.

At the discretion of the Chair, any other councillor of BCP Council not sitting as
a voting member of the Planning Committee may also be given the opportunity
to speak on an application being considered at Planning Committee. Every
such councillor will have up to five minutes each.

Any member of the Planning Committee who has exercised their call in powers
to bring an application to the Planning Committee for decision should not vote
on that item but subject to any requirements of the Member Code of Conduct,
may have or, at the discretion of the Chair, be given the opportunity to speak in
connection with it as a ward councillor or otherwise in accordance with the
speaking provisions of this protocol. Such a member will usually be invited after
speaking to move themselves from the area where voting members of the
Planning Committee are sitting and may be requested to leave the room until
consideration of that application has been concluded.

Speaking as a Parish or Town Council representative
(whether in person or remotely)

A Parish or Town Council representative who wishes to speak as a
representative of that Parish or Town Council must register as an objector or
supporter and the same provisions for speaking as apply to any other objector
or supporter applies to them. This applies even if that representative is also a
councillor of BCP Council.

Content of speeches (whether in person or remotely) and use
of supporting material

Speaking must be done in the form of an oral representation. This should only
refer to planning related issues as these are the only matters the Planning
Committee can consider when making decisions on planning applications.
Speakers should normally direct their points to reinforcing or amplifying
planning representations already made to the Council in writing in relation to
the application being considered. Guidance on what constitutes planning
considerations is included as part of this protocol. Speakers must take care to
avoid saying anything that might be libellous, slanderous, otherwise abusive to

4
12




any person or group, including the applicant, any officer or councillor or might
result in the disclosure of any personal information for which express consent
has not been given.

10.2. A speaker who wishes to provide or rely on any photograph, illustration or other
visual material when speaking (in person or remotely) must submit this to
Democratic Services by 12 noon two working days before the meeting. All
such material must be in an electronic format to be agreed by Democratic
Services and will usually be displayed on the speaker’s behalf by the presenting
officer. The maximum number of slides to be displayed must not exceed five.
Material provided after this time or in a format not agreed will not be accepted.
The circulation or display of hard copies of such material at the Planning
Committee meeting itself will normally not be allowed. In the interests of
fairness, any material to be displayed must have already been submitted to and
received by the Council as part of a representation/submission in relation to the
application by the date of agenda publication for that Planning Committee
meeting.

10.3. The ability to display material on screen is wholly dependent upon the
availability and operation of suitable electronic equipment at the time of the
Planning Committee meeting and cannot be guaranteed. Every person making
a speech should therefore ensure that it is not dependent on such information
being displayed.

11. Remote speaking at Planning Committee

11.1. In circumstances where the Council has put in place electronic facilities which
enable a member of the public to be able to speak remotely to a Planning
Committee meeting, a person may request the opportunity to speak remotely
via those electronic facilities using their own equipment. In circumstances other
than a wholly virtual meeting this would be as an alternative to attending the
meeting in person. The provisions of this protocol relating to speaking at
Planning Committee shall, unless the context otherwise necessitates, equally
apply to remote speaking.

11.2. The opportunity to speak remotely is undertaken at a person’s own risk on the
understanding that should any technical issues affect their ability to participate
remotely the meeting may still proceed to hear the item on which they wish to
speak without their participation.

11.3. A person attending to speak remotely may at any time be required by the Chair
or the Democratic Services Officer to leave any electronic facility that may be
provided.

12. Non-attendance / inability to be heard at Planning Committee

12.1. ltis solely the responsibility of a person who has been given an opportunity to
speak on an application at a Planning Committee meeting (whether in person
or remotely) to ensure that they are present for that meeting at the time when
an opportunity to speak is made available to them.

12.2. A failure / inability by any person to attend and speak in person or remotely at
a Planning Committee meeting at the time made available for that person to
speak on an application will normally be deemed a withdrawal of their wish to



speak on that application. This will not therefore usually be regarded as a
reason of itself to defer or prevent an application from being heard.

12.3. This protocol includes provisions enabling the opportunity to provide a
statement as an alternative to speaking in person / as a default option in the
event of a person being unable to speak at the appropriate meeting time.

13. Submission of statement as an alternative to speaking / for
use in default

13.1. A person (including a councillor of BCP Council) who has registered to speak,
may submit a statement to be read out on their behalf as an alternative to
speaking at a Planning Committee meeting (whether in person or remotely).

13.2. Further, any person speaking on an application at Planning Committee may, at
their discretion, additionally submit a statement which can be read out as
provided for in this protocol in the event of not being able to attend and speak
in person or remotely at the time when an opportunity is made available for that
person to speak on the application. The person should identify that this is the
purpose of the statement.

14. Provisions relating to a statement
14.1 Any statement submitted for the purpose of this protocol:

a) must not exceed 450 words in total unless the statement is provided by a
ward councillor or any other councillor who is not voting on the application
under consideration in which case the statement may consist of up to 900
words;

b) must have been received by Democratic Services by 10.00am of the
working day before the meeting by emailing
democratic.services@bcpcouncil.gov.uk

c) when submitted by a member of the public (as opposed to a councillor of
BCP Council), will be treated as amounting to two and a half minutes of
the total time allotted for speaking notwithstanding how long it does in fact
take to read out;

d) must not normally be modified once the deadline time and date for receipt
of the statement by Democratic Services has passed unless such
modification is requested by an officer from Democratic Services; and

e) will normally be read out aloud by an officer from Democratic Services
having regard to the order of presentation identified in this protocol.

14.2 A person who has been given the right to speak and who has submitted a
statement in accordance with this protocol may at any time withdraw that
statement prior to it being read out by giving notice to Democratic Services.
Where such withdrawal occurs after the deadline date for registering a
request to speak has passed, then a further opportunity for a statement to be
submitted will not be made available. If the statement that has been
withdrawn was submitted as an alternative to speaking, then if the person

6
14


mailto:democratic.services@bcpcouncil.gov.uk

withdrawing the statement wishes instead to exercise their opportunity to
speak in person they should notify Democratic Services on or before the time
of withdrawing the statement.

15. Assessment of information / documentation / statement

15.1. BCP Council reserves the right to check any statement and any information /
documentation (including any photograph, illustration or other visual material)
provided to it for use at a Planning Committee meeting and to prevent the use
of such information / documentation in whole or part, in particular, if it:

a) is considered to contain information of a kind that might be libellous,
slanderous, abusive to any party including an applicant or might result in
the disclosure of any personal information for which express consent has
not been given; and / or

b) is identified as having anything on it that is considered could be an
electronic virus, malware or similar.

15.2 The Head of Planning in consultation with the Chair shall have the absolute
discretion to determine whether any such statement / information /
documentation should not be used / read out in whole or part. If
circumstances reasonably permit, Democratic Services may seek to request a
person modify such statement / information / documentation to address any
issue identified.

16. Guidance on what amounts to a material planning
consideration

16.1. As at the date of adoption of this protocol, the National Planning Portal provides
the following guidance on material planning considerations:

“A material consideration is a matter that should be taken into account in
deciding a planning application or on an appeal against a planning decision.
Material considerations can include (but are not limited to):

Overlooking/loss of privacy

Loss of light or overshadowing

Parking

Highway safety

Traffic

Noise

Effect on listed building and conservation area
Layout and density of building

Design, appearance and materials
Government policy

Disabled persons' access

Proposals in the Development Plan

Previous planning decisions (including appeal decisions)
Nature conservation



However, issues such as loss of view, or negative effect on the value of
properties are not material considerations.”

https://www.planningportal.co.uk/fags/fag/4/what are material considerations
#:~text=A%20material%20consideration%20is%20a,L. 0ss%200f%20light%20
or%20overshadowing

Note
For the purpose of this protocol:

(a) reference to the “Chair” means the Chair of Planning Committee and shall
include the Vice Chair of Planning Committee if the Chair is at any time
unavailable or absent and the person presiding at the meeting of a Planning
Committee at any time that both the Chair and Vice Chair of Planning
Committee are unavailable or absent;

(b) reference to the Head of Planning includes any officer nominated by them for
the purposes of this protocol and if at any time the Head of Planning in
unavailable, absent or the post is vacant / ceases to exist, then the
Development Management Manager or if also unavailable / absent or that post
is vacant/no longer exists then the next most senior officer in the development
management team (or any of them if more than one) who is first contactable;

(c) reference to ‘ward councillor means a councillor in whose ward the application
being considered at a meeting of Planning Committee is situated in whole or
part and who is not a voting member of the Planning Committee in respect of
the application being considered; and

(d) a “wholly virtual meeting” is a Planning Committee meeting where no one
including officers and councillors physically attend the meeting; however, a
meeting will not be held as a “wholly virtual meeting” unless legislation permits

Adopted by the Planning Committee on 17.11.22 and updated on 20.7.23


https://www.planningportal.co.uk/faqs/faq/4/what_are_material_considerations#:%7E:text=A%20material%20consideration%20is%20a,Loss%20of%20light%20or%20overshadowing
https://www.planningportal.co.uk/faqs/faq/4/what_are_material_considerations#:%7E:text=A%20material%20consideration%20is%20a,Loss%20of%20light%20or%20overshadowing
https://www.planningportal.co.uk/faqs/faq/4/what_are_material_considerations#:%7E:text=A%20material%20consideration%20is%20a,Loss%20of%20light%20or%20overshadowing

Agenda ltem 8a

BCP

Council

Committee Report

Application Address The Captains Club Hotel Wick Lane Christchurch BH23 1HU

Proposal An extension to the existing hotel to create additional hotel
bedrooms and suites and ancillary plant rooms

Application Number 8/23/0616/FUL

Applicant FiveM Developments

Agent Abigail Heath, Savills

Ward and Ward Member(s) Christchurch Town Ward — Councillor Mike Cox and Councillor
Michael Tarling

Report Status Public

Meeting Date 8" May 2025

Summary of Grant subject to conditions and the signing of a legal
Recommendation agreement for heathlands mitigation

Reason for Referral to Councillor Cox — call in on 25/09/2023

Planning Committee The increase in the size of the Hotel will continue to have a

significant effect on the local neighbours given the bulk and
scale of the increase. The effect on the amenity space for
neighbours will be detrimental and there will be a significant
worsening of traffic and parking for local residents, guests and
visitors. As such this development is in contravention of policies
HE2 and HE3

Case Officer Peter Walters
Is the proposal EIA No
Development?

Description of Proposal

1. This proposal is a second submission following the previously refused application
(8/22/1069/FUL) by Member at a planning committee meeting. The previous application
sought consent for a rear extension and a fourth storey extension to the existing hotel to
create additional 29 hotel bedrooms and 7 suites which would have increased the floor
space by 1,845.1sgm. In addition, the extensions would re-house the existing and new
plant space. 24 of the proposed bedrooms would be within the rear extension and the
remaining 5 bedrooms and 7 suites would be located within the fourth storey element of

Page 1 of 26

17



the extension. The access and parking arrangements would remain the same as existing,
with the current provision of 47 parking spaces remaining for guests, visitors and staff.

2. In this current application, the proposal remains largely unaltered and the difference
between this proposal and previous submission is that this latest scheme seeks to
address the reason for refusal in the previous application which are:

1. The proposed extension to the hotel, by reason of its design, which introduces
significant fenestration to the north elevation, scale which increases the building's
height and projects closer to the nearest residential properties and the subsequent
proximity to neighbours in Creedy Drive will adversely impact on living conditions at
these neighbouring dwellings by reason of a loss of privacy, overlooking and light
pollution and disturbance from north facing windows in the proposed extension. The
proposal is therefore contrary to Policy HE2 of the Christchurch and East Dorset Local
Plan Part 1 - Core Strategy (2014).

2. The proposal is within 5Km of a Site of Special Scientific Interest (SSSI). This SSSlis
also part of the designated Dorset Heathlands SPA (Special Protection Area) and
Ramsar site and is also part of the Dorset Heaths SAC (Special Area of Conservation).
The proximity of these European Sites (SPA and SAC) means that determination of
the application should be undertaken with regard to the requirements of the Habitat
Regulations 2017, in particular Regulations 48 and 49. If the Council had been minded
to grant permission in all other respects it would have to carry out an appropriate
assessment in accordance with the advice and procedures set out broadly in Circular
06/2005.

The applicant has failed to demonstrate in accordance with the Habitat Regulations
that the proposals will cause no harm to the SPA and SAC heathland. It is clear, on
the basis of advice from Natural England that, the proposed developmentwould in
combination with other plans and projects within close proximity to heathland and in
the absence of any form of acceptable mitigation be likely to have an adverse effect
on the heathland special features including those which are SPA and SAC features.
Having regard to the Waddenzee judgement (ECJ case C-127/02) the Councilis not
In a position to be convinced that there is no reasonable scientific doubtto the contrary.
For these reasons, and without needing to conclude the appropriate assessment, the
proposal is considered contrary to the recommendations of the Berne Convention
Standing Committee on urban development close to the Dorset Heathlands and also
the provisions of the Dorset Heathlands Planning Framework 2020-2025
Supplementary Planning Document (SPD), which took effect in November 2020. The
proposal is also contrary to policy ME2 of the Christchurch and East Dorset Local Plan.

3. As such, inthis current application, the proposed windows facing Creedy Drive have been
raised by 150mmm and include transom glazing so that there would be no clear glass
below a height of 1680mm on the first floor and 1570mm on the second floor, with the
bottom pane opaque. The current application is also now accompanied by a unilateral
undertaking to help secure the necessary contribution towards Strategic Access
Management and Monitoring in accordance with the Dorset Heathlands SPD.

4. Subsequent to the submission of this application, the previously refused scheme has been
the subject of an appeal which has been allowed. The Inspector disagreed with the
Council's assertion that the proposal would have a harmful impact on the amenity of
neighbouring residents. They concluded that:

Page 2 of 26

18



7. The proposal would introduce areas of glazing in the elevation facing Creedy Drive
where there are currently very few. There would be windows serving a total of 30 rooms
and on this basis, | acknowledge that the sense of being overlooked as well as the levels
of privacy would likely change. However, the key question is whether unacceptable ham
to the living conditions of occupiers would arise or would the resultant developmentand
associated levels of privacy be appropriate and reasonable bearing in mind the presence
of the hotel and the surrounding context.

8. There is no adopted numerical guidance in respect of separation distances between
residential properties and commercial uses. In this regard, the consideration of the impact
of the proposal upon the living conditions of existing occupiers of nearby houses is one of
planning judgement based on the merits of the scheme.

9. The appellant's Overlooking Analysis document indicates that separation distances
would vary but there would be a minimum distance of just over 26m between the hotel
room windows proposed and 29 Creedy Drive and a distance of around 31m between the
hotel and No 21 and | have no substantive evidence before me to dispute the distances
set out in this assessment.

10. In my judgementand having regard to the surrounding context the separation and the
greater mass and height of the proposal would be acceptable. There would be adequate
separation between the windows proposed and nearby dwellings. In any case such
relationships between windowed elevationsare not unusual in builtup areas, such as this.

11. Furthermore, the spatial relationship between the resultant developmentand nearby
dwellings would be more generous than those generally found locally. There would be
limited opportunity for direct overlooking of balconies, into windows and garden areas on
account of the overall distances involved between the hotel and nearby dwellings.
Accordingly, | am satisfied that the proposed development would not give rise to an
unacceptable degree of overlooking that would lead to a loss of privacy.

12. Taking into account the internal layout of the hotel bedrooms and that the outlook from
these rooms is onto vehicle parking areas it is unlikely that hotel patrons would spend
significant periods of time at windows. It is more likely that they would use the room as a
base to rest and refresh prior to and after utilising the hotel facilities or enjoying the local
area. In my view the proposal would not result in unduly intrusive views into habitable
rooms or balconies from hotel bedrooms. Consequently, | am not persuaded that the
proposed developmentwould lead to existing residents altering their behaviour when in
their properties.

13. The hotel has 17 bedrooms and 12 suites. The proposal would result in 29 extra rooms
and 7 suites and a commensurate increase in the number of guests. Whilstthe bulk of the
rooms would be to the rear there are no roof terraces facing the car park and the position
of the hotel entrance and facilities including the bar and restaurant would remain along
the river’s edge. As such, noise from occupation of the rooms is unlikely to be perceivable
from outside. In addition, a condition has been imposed limiting noise from plant and
machinery.

14. With the increased number of bedrooms and suites there would be additional
pedestrian and vehicular activity, however, itis not aninevitable consequence that itwould
give rise to unacceptable levels of noise or anti-social behaviour. | am also mindful that
higher noise levels are to be expected in mixed commercial areas and areas of tourist
activity.

Page 3 of 26

19



15. Hotel windows would be illuminated throughout periods of darkness but considering
the comings and goings associated with patrons’ independence and own work or leisure
routines it is likely that lighting window conditionswould be constantly changing. There is
nothing to suggest that internal lightlevels would be excessively bright. Given the variable
nature of internal lighting and that in evenings curtains would be typically drawn | am
satisfied that obtrusive light spill would not occur. Furthermore, it is likely that when
patrons are not in their room the key card system would turn off lights.

16. As such, | am satisfied that there would be no harmful loss of privacy, light intrusion
or disturbance for existing occupiers. The proposed developmentwould therefore accord
with Policy HEZ2 of the Christchurch and East Dorset Local Plan Part 1 — Core Strategy
(2014) (CS) which, amongst other things, requires new development to be compatible
with its surroundings in terms of its relationship with nearby properties.

Description of Site and Surroundings

5.

The Captains Club Hotel is located on a prominent riverside location on the River Stour,
southwest of the town centre of Christchurch. The existing building is a three storey
building, which on the riverside elevation comprises significant glazing to benefit from
the panoramic views across the river towards the harbour and Tuckton Gardens public
open space. The rear of the building currently has minimal openings and at ground floor
level the plant facilities and bin storage are located.

Terraced residential properties are located to the west, north and north-east of the Hotel
within Creedy Drive, Sopers Lane and Willow Way with the rowing club, sea cadet hall
and public car park to the east. The residential properties are 2 and 3 storey in form,
with the majority in Creedy Drive which face the Hotel consisting of 3 storey terraced
properties with balconies at first floor level.

The site lies outside of the Central Christchurch Conservation Area which lies
approximately 93 metres to the east. The boundary of the Wick Village Conservation
Area runs up the middle of The Stour (approx. 37m from the hotel building) and there is
a strong relationship between both sides of the riverbank.

The site is located within an area of high flood risk, identified as being within current
flood zones 2 and 3 but also within future flood zone 3a (2093 for commercial
development) as shown inthe Council’s Strategic Flood Risk Assessment.

The issue of nutrient neutrality was raised by the appeal and continues to be a
consideration. The application site is within the catchment of the Christchurch Waste
Water Recycling Facility which discharges enriches water into the River Avon which is
designated as a Special Area of Conservation under the Habitat Regulations 2017 and
listed as a Ramsar site.

Page 4 of 26

20



Relevant Planning History:

The Captains Club An _ h
Hotel extension to e 19/06/23
existing hotel to Refused Appeal
Wick Lane create additional hotel
8/22/1069/FUL bedrooms and suites QﬂOﬁ:& aII(())vr\]/ed
Christchurch and ancillary plant
rooms 23/01/25
BH23 1HU
Erection of single
storey outbuilding and
Captains Club Hotel, removal of existing
8/11/0089 Wick Lane entrance door Granted 28/04/11
(Amended
description).
. Erection of single
8/07/0578 CapW?CE I'_‘;?}QOtel’ storey enclosure for Granted 25/10/07
waste bins
8/06/0571 Captaln_s Club Hotel, Erection of 2 signs Granted 27/10/06
Wick Lane displaying hotel name

Constraints

Within Flood Risk Zones 2 and 3

Within 5km of SSSI heathland

Within an Area Benefiting from Flood Defences
Wessex Water Sewer Flooding reported

Public Sector Equalities Duty

10. In accordance with section 149 Equality Act 2010, in considering this proposal due

regard has been had to the need to —

e eliminate discrimination, harassment, victimisation and any other conduct that is
prohibited by or under this Act;

e advance equality of opportunity between persons who share a relevant protected
characteristic and persons who do not share it;

o foster good relations between persons who share a relevant protected characteristic
and persons who do not share it.

Other relevant duties

11. In accordance with section 40 Natural Environment and Rural Communities Act 2006, in
considering this application, regard has been had, so far as is consistent with the proper
exercise of this function, to the purpose of conserving biodiversity.

12.  For the purposes of this application, in accordance with section 17 Crime and Disorder
Act 1998, due regard has been had to, including the need to do all that can reasonably be
done to prevent, (a)crime and disorder in its area (including anti-social and other
behaviour adversely affecting the local environment); (b) the misuse of drugs, alcohol and
other substances in its area; and (c) re-offending inits area.

13. For the purposes of this report regard has been had to the Human Rights Act 1998, the
Human Rights Convention and relevant related issues of proportionality.

Page 5 of 26

21



Consultations

All consultees comments are summarised below and all full comments can be viewed online
with the associated application number;

Christchurch Town Council:
Objection on the following grounds:
e overlooking, loss of privacy and light and noise pollution to neighbouring property
e adverse impact on car parking and increased traffic congestion
e insufficient changes to the proposal to meet the Council's previous objections (Officer
Note: comments received prior to the appeal decision being issued)
BCP Environmental Health: No objection subject to conditions
Environment Agency: No comment

Natural England — no objection subject to mitigations being secured in regard to the river Avon
regarding phosphates.

Wessex Water: No comment

Dorset & Wilts Fire & Rescue Service: no objection subject to the development being
designed and built to meet current Building Regulations requirements.

BCP Rights of Way: No comment
BCP Waste and Recycling: No comment
BCP Lead Flood Authority: no objection subject condition

BCP Destination & Culture: support the application, noting the proposal makes a positive

contribution to BCP’s tourist accommodation and can only improve the facilities offered
to guests making it a world class offer.

BCP Design and Heritage comments: they raised no objection to the scheme noting that:

The key changes made are raising the window sill heights of the new windows on the
northern elevation and obscuring the lower part of each new window on the northern
side.

Although for a residential proposal obscured lower window panes would be opposed
due to poor outlook, as this is a hotel proposal the adverse effect on the outlook of the
occupiers of the hotel rooms would only be temporary for the duration of their stay and
this is considered acceptable in Urban Design and Conservation terms.

The improvements to the privacy of the occupiers of Creedy Drive, as a result of the
introduction of raised sill heights and obscured glazing, are supported.

BCP Highways - Major Dev: no objections subject to conditions

BCP Planning Policy: — no comment received

Page 6 of 26

22



Representations

Of the 55 representations received, 49 are objections, 5 are of support and 1 is a comment
and they are summarised below (full comments can be viewed online with the associated
application number);

Objections

Impact on highways, parking, turning and increase in traffic

No changes from the previous application

The area is atrisk of flooding

Given the bulk and size, the proposal would appear out of character along the riverside
Overdevelopment of the site

Loss of privacy to neighbouring properties

Light and noise pollution to neighbouring properties

There are no benefits arising from the development

Disturbance of river and wildlife

The riverbank is a historic setting, which requires preservation

Commercial building should have a greater distance from residential dwelling
Huge increase in accommodation

No tree cover so overlooking is still possible

The opaqueness of the windows are not known

Support

The proposed development is in accordance with Objective 4 and Policy PC6 of the Core
Strategy.

The earlier refusal of planning permission clearly demonstrates that there will be no adverse
impact from the development on the amenities of the residents of nearby housing.

Need for more hotels in the locality

Anything that encourages business and tourism in our beautiful town should be encouraged
The location is ideal and encourages employment

Key Issue(s)

14.

15.

The key issues involved with this proposal are:

Principle of development

Economy and tourism

Design, form and scale and impact on visual amenities of area
Impact on Heritage assets

Impact upon residential amenities

Parking and Access

Flood risk and surface water management

Biodiversity, Heathland Mitigation and Nutrient Neutrality
Other Matter

o Energy and Sustainability

These issues will be considered along with other matters relevant to this proposal below.

Page 7 of 26

23



Policy context

16. Section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 states that planning
applications must be determined in accordance with the development plan for an area, except
where material considerations indicate otherwise. The development plan in this case
comprises Christchurch and East Dorset Local Plan Part 1 - Core Strategy (2014) and saved
policies of the Christchurch Local Plan (2001).

KS1 Presumption in favour of sustainable development
KS2 Settlement hierarchy

KS7 Role of town centres

KS11 Transport and Development

KS12 Parking provision

PC6 Tourism

HE1 Valuing and conserving our historic environment
HE2 Design of new development

HE3 Landscape quality

ME1 Safeguarding Biodiversity and Geodiversity
ME3 Sustainable Development Standards

ME4 Renewable Energy Provision

MEG6 Flood Management, Mitigation and Defence

Saved Policy BE5 Setting of Conservation Areas

Saved policy ENV3 Pollution and existing development

Saved policy ENV5 Drainage and new development

Saved policy ENV21 Landscaping in new development

Saved policy ET1 Redevelopment/change of use of tourist facilities

Emerging BCP Local Plan

Following the recommendation by the Planning Inspector following Stage 1 of the Local Plan
examination that the Plan should be withdrawn, the policies init are at present considered to
carry negligible weight. If the Council opts to follow the recommendation of the Inspector, the
policies will carry no weight. Policies that would apply to the proposal are as follows

Policy C2: Sustainable construction and low carbon energy
Policy C6: Flood Risk

Policy NE2: Habitats sites and wildlife sites

Policy NE3: Biodiversity

Policy BE4: Building Heights

Policy E9: Visitor Accommodation

Policy E12: Community, sports and leisure facilities

Policy T2: Transport and Development

Policy P10 — Christchurch Town

Supplementary Planning Documents and Guidance
Parking Standards 2021

Christchurch Conservation Area Appraisal
Wick Village Conservation Area Appraisal

Page 8 of 26

24



National Planning Policy Framework (“NPPF” / “Framework” 2024)

(©
(d)

Including in particular the following:

Paragraph 11 —
“Plans and decisions should apply a presumption in favour of sustainable development.

For decision-taking this means:

approving development proposals that accord with an up-to-date development plan without
delay; or

where there are no relevant development plan policies, or the policies which are most
important for determining the application are out-of-date, granting permission unless:

i. the application of policies in this Framework that protect areas or assets of particular
importance provides a strong reason for refusing the development proposed; or

il. any adverse impacts of doing so would significantly and demonstrably outweigh the
benefits, when assessed against the policiesin this Framework taken as a whole, having
particular regard to key policies for directing development to sustainable locations, making
effective use of land, securing well-designed places and providing affordable homes,
individually orin combination.”

Planning Assessment

Principle of development

17.

18.

19.

20.

21.

There is a presumption in favour of sustainable development within the NPPF. Paragraph
11 of the NPPF states that where policies which are most important for determining the
application are out of date, planning permission must be granted unless policies in the
Framework provide a clear reason for refusing the development proposals. The Core
Strategy policies relevant to this application are considered to be up-to-date.

As noted above, this proposal is a second submission following the previously refused
application (8/22/1069/FUL). In the previous application, the principle of the proposal was
deemed as acceptable. The Development Plan has not significantly changed since the
previous application was assessed and therefore the principle is considered to remain
acceptable. It should be noted that the appeal against the previous refusal was granted and
therefore there is a realistic fallback indicating that the principle of development is
acceptable.

The existing Hotel is an established business just outside of the town centre of Christchurch
and as such its use has already been established. Policy PC6 seeks to promote visitor
accommodation in sustainable locations and saved Christchurch Local Plan policy ET1
seeks to avoid the loss of tourist accommodation. BCP

The BCP Destination and Culture officer has been consulted and states the Captains Club
hotel plays a significant role within tourism for the Bournemouth, Christchurch and Poole
area attracting visitors from far and wide, including international staying visitors.

The hotel makes a significant contribution to the guest experience and tourism industry all
year round and an extension to the existing hotel to create additional guest bedrooms is in
line with the Tourism SPD (2016) which supports continuing investment in and improving
the quality of tourism accommodation.

Page 9 of 26

25



22.

On this basis, the proposed development is acceptable in principle subject to assessment
and consideration of site-specific impacts and compliance with relevant policies of the plan
and provision of the framework in that regard. These matters are addressed under specific
iIssue headings below. The overall planning balance assessment is set out in the conclusion
below.

Tourism and the economy

23.

24,

25.

Core Strategy policy PC6 promotes new visitor attractions and accommodation in
sustainable locations.

As referred to above and in the previous application, this Hotel makes a valuable and
positive contribution to the local tourism economy and attracts visitors from afar, including
international visitors. BCP Destination and Culture, in their consultation response have
provided some background to the local tourism industry and confirm that BCP is
established as one of the UK’s premier seaside resorts, generating over half a billion
pounds in visitor spend each year and sustaining local employment. The Council's Planning
and Destination Team commissioned an assessment of guest accommodation year-round
supply, performance and development potential, new accommodation supply pipeline and
future growth and investment plans within Bournemouth, Christchurch and Poole. This
indicates that in Christchurch there is an opportunity for an additional 4 — star provision or
boutique hotel over the next 10 years, most likely from expansion of existing hotels.

It is considered that the expansion of the Captains Club hotel will make a positive
contribution to the provision of tourist accommodation within Christchurch and BCP as a
whole and this would contribute to the local economy through investment, visitor spending
and employment opportunities — this is reflective of the BCP Destination & Culture officer. It
is considered the extension to the Captains Club which is in an edge of centre location with
links to the town centre and beyond meets the ambition of Policy PC6 to promote tourist
accommodation in sustainable locations. Paragraph 85 in the NPPF states; ‘Planning
policies and decisions should help create the conditions in which businesses can invest,
expand and adapt. Significant weight should be placed on the need to support economic
growth and productivity, taking into account both local business needs and wider
opportunities for development’. This scheme would enable a local business to expand and
improve the offering to visitors and adapt to the changing climate since the pandemic. It is
therefore considered that the proposal meets the aims of policy PC6 and the NPPF.
Therefore, taking the above into account, the proposal is considered to be acceptable in
this regard and accords with Policy PC6 of the Christchurch and East Dorset Local Plan.

Design, form and scale and impact on visual amenities of the locality

26.

27.

CS Policy HE2 complements the design requirements in section 12 of the NPPF by
requiring that development be compatible with or improve its surroundings in relation to
criteria including layout, site coverage, visual impact and relationship to nearby properties.
The NPPF states that developments must function well and add to the overall quality of the
area; are visually attractive as a result of good architecture, layout and landscaping.

As noted above, this proposal is a second submission following the previously refused
application (8/22/1069/FUL). Despite the objections received from neighbouring properties
and interested third parties, the reasons for refusal in the previous application did not
include harm to the character, appearance and visual amenity of the locality. The proposed
extension has a very similar form and design to the existing hotel and builds upon and
responds to the character of the current building. It is considered that the rear extension

Page 10 of 26

26



28.

29.

30.

31.

which is to be the same height as the existing building is acceptable in terms of its scale
and bulk. It relates well to the building and does not appear intrusive within the street scene
and will be clearly read as part of the hotel. Atground floor level, there are minimal
openings resulting in a rather blank facade; however, itis appreciated that this is required
due to the location of the plant rooms and storage areas at the rear. Given the existing
situation, with timber enclosures and a number of different spaces, this proposal
rationalises the rear area, enclosing everything within the building, improving the
appearance. The amendments to the access points for staff at the rear have minimised
potential for anti-social behaviour and collection of litter and material with a reduced
undercroft area and a more inviting porch area.

The proposed changes to the fenestration will slightly reduce the size of the windows on the
northern rear elevation serving the proposed bedrooms and this is considered to be
acceptable.

In terms of the increased height of the building, it is considered that the form and scale is
now more appropriate and the extension respects the existing tower elements and the
building would not appear top heavy. BCP Urban Design and Conservation still consider
that the top floor still requires a higher proportion of glazing. It is recognised that the floors
below show a greater proportion of glazing on the southern elevation; however, the
proposed pattern of glazing and the ratio to solid wall in conjunction with the now lighter
cladding is considered to be acceptable and would not result in a discordant or top

heavy extension. The reduction in floor area of this level along with the lighter

material ensure it will appear as a lighter weight structure and not dominate the

existing building.

Officers note the objections in relation to the built relationship between the proposed
development and the neighbouring residential properties, particularly in Creedy Drive to the
north and Riverside Park to the west. The rear extension will bring built form closer to these
properties; however, there still remains a significant distance between the buildings with the
parking and highway maintaining this gap. It is not considered that the resulting built
relationship would result in a cramped or oppressive form of development within the street
scene.

In addition, the allowing of the appeal provides a realistic fallback position in considering
that the proposal does not have an unduly harmful impact on the visual amenities of the
locality. Taking this into account, the proposalis considered to be acceptable in terms of the
impact on the visual amenity of the locality and is therefore in accordance with Policy HE2
of the Christchurch and East Dorset Local Plan.

Impact on Heritage assets

32.

33.

Core Strategy HE1 seeks to ensure that the significance of all heritage assets and their
settings will be protected and enhanced. As outlined in the Site description, the site is not
within the Christchurch Conservation Area but lies to the north of the Wick Village
Conservation Area across the River Stour and the Central Christchurch Conservation is
located to the east. Wick is a historic village and owes its reputation as the last village on
the River Stour to its location and surroundings, and its attractive character.

The reasons for refusal in the previous application did not include harm to the significance
of the Heritage asset and given the modest alteration proposed in this current application, it
is considered that the proposal would not result in harm to the significance of the Heritage
asset.

Page 11 of 26

27



34.

Similarly, the Councils Conservation officer has been consulted with respect to the scheme
proposal. They have not indicated that harm would be caused to the heritage assets, but
they have suggested that a condition requiring details of materials to be used should be
applied. Therefore, the scheme is considered to accord with Policy HE1 of the Local Plan
and Section 16 of the NPPF. Once again, it is noted that there is a realistic fallback position
of the previously refused scheme that was subsequently allowed at appeal. Taking the
above into account, the proposal is considered to be acceptable interms of its impact on
designated heritage assets and is therefore in accordance with Policy HE1 of the
Christchurch and East Dorset Local Plan.

Impact upon residential living conditions

35.

36.

37.

38.

39.

40.

Policy HE2 states that; ‘development will be permitted if it is compatible with or improves its
surroundings; its relationship to nearby properties including minimising disturbance to
amenity’. Saved policy ENV3 refers to development which creates noise, discharges or
emissions not harming the amenities of occupants of nearby land.

Similar to the previous application, the proposal continues to gather multiple objections from
the Town Council, neighbouring properties including third parties some considerable
distance from the site regarding overlooking, loss of privacy and noise impacts to impacts to
surrounding dwellings, the closest of which are in Creedy Drive.

However, as noted in the proposal description above, this proposal seeks to address the
reasons for refusal in regard to residential amenities. It is noted that the proposed windows
facing Creedy Drive has been raised by 150mmm and include transom glazing so that there
would be no clear glass below a height of 1680mm on the first floor and 1570mm on the
second floor, with the bottom pane opaque. This is considered to represent an improvement
on the previous scheme and will protect the amenity of neighbouring residents. A condition
requiring the windows not to have clear glass below this height will not be included due to
the fallback position of the appeal decision.

A officer site visit was conducted to view the relation of the proposed development from
within a property on Creedy Drive. Whilst it is considered that there may be some mutual
overlooking between the residential properties (mainly from the balcony at the front
elevation) and the hotel rooms. There is around 27m & 32m (long range view) separation
distances between the neighbouring properties at Creedy Drive and the hotel subject of this
application. As such, substantial separation distances exist and for these reasons it is
considered the proposed development would not be so detrimental upon the neighbouring
properties amenities that permission should be refused. The Inspector who allowed the
previous appeal also found no harm to nearby residential properties.

Taken together, the acceptable separation distances combined with the use of obscured
glazing would significantly help soften views to properties at Creedy Drive. As such, the
proposal would not result in harmful overlooking upon these neighbouring properties.

Given the increase in the numbers of rooms the proposal potentially could intensify
movements and activity within the area. However, this locality is on the edge of the town
centre and characterised not only by the hotel and residential properties but by public car
parks, a rowing club and areas of open space. Therefore, there exists an intrinsic level of
movement and activity in the area. It is considered that the proposal would not give rise to
such a significant increase in noise and disturbance to cause sufficient harm to the
occupiers of the surrounding properties to warrant refusing the application. A view
supported by the Inspector on the appeal.

Page 12 of 26

28



41.

42.

43.

The Councils Environmental Health officer has been consulted. They are happy in principle
with the proposal, however they have recommended a planning condition restricting the
noise level of the plant and equipment. They also suggest the use of conditions to control
disturbance during the construction stages of the proposed development.

As noted in the previous application, the proposed extension atthe rear and at the fourth
storey element will include quite a large amount of glazing, especially on the southern side
fronting the river. During the evenings and at night, this could increase the prominence of
the building given the light omitted from the building. However, given the existing level of
glazing on the southern elevation and the level of built form within the area and street
lighting, the light emitted from the building is not considered to cause such an adverse
impact on the environment or living conditions of the occupiers of the neighbouring
properties. There is no additional external lighting shown on the plans; however, an external
lighting strategy can be conditioned to ensure that any new lighting around the hotel is
suitable for the locality and does not cause harm to the residential amenities of the
surrounding properties.

In this respect, it not considered that the proposal would have an unacceptably harmful
impact upon the neighbouring properties to warrant refusal. The applicant has a realistic
fallback position of the allowed scheme which is a material consideration in the assessment
of this planning application. The proposed scheme reduces this impact, as set out above,
and is therefore considered to be acceptable in this respect. The proposal is therefore
considered to be in accordance with Policy HE2 of the Christchurch and East Dorset Local
Plan and saved policy ENV3 of the Christchurch Local Plan 2001.

Parking and Access

44,

45,

The level of parking spaces being provided remains the same as the previous application.
The site is situated within Parking Zone B of the Parking Standards SPD but itis on the
boundary of Zone A, which requires the least amount of car parking provision. The site is
located close to the transport links and amenities of Christchurch Town Centre. Within
parking Zone B the SPD guidance sets out that a 65 bedroom hotel facility should ideally
provide 49 car parking spaces (in the neighbouring Zone A this would be a 33 space
requirement). The existing car park for the hotel has 47 parking spaces, and this is to stay
the same, but at present the car park is available for both hotel patrons and the public to
use as the hotel offers the parking spaces available as a privately operated pay & display
car park. The proposal is to retain the 47 spaces which would now be for hotel patrons,
staff, and visitors only, which will likely result in less demand and traffic movements inthe
car park than the existing arrangement of shared general public use. There are public car
parks close to the site and apart from a few peak holiday weekends the Highway Authority
are aware that for the majority of the year there is spare capacity in these car parks. The
Hotel also has a long term contract to rent 18 car parking spaces in the nearby Willow Way
Car Park, a demonstration that this public car park has spare capacity to allow the long
term renting out of parking spaces.

Therefore, with the 47 car parking spaces within the Hotel car park plus the 18 spaces
within the Willow Way Car Park the Hotel has access to car parking well above the Parking
Standards SPD guideline of 49 car parking spaces. The shortfall of parking spaces for 2
cars can be absorbed by the nearby Willow Way car park or failing that, there is on street
capacity. In addition, it is noted that the site sits on the edge of Parking Zone A, which
would require 33 spaces, and in this scenario there would be an overprovision of parking.
Therefore, the small shortfall would not lead to significant highway safety issues.

Page 13 of 26

29



46. The proposal indicates that 13 cycle parking spaces will be provided which is an acceptable
figure in line with SPD requirements. 4 of those cycle spaces will be for general
public/ivisitor use and these are the existing cycle stands located close to the main building
entrance. The rest will be for staff and are located internally within the service area of the
building. The Councils Highways engineer has been reconsulted with respect to the
scheme proposal and they have no objection to scheme subject to conditions. Therefore,
the scheme is considered to accord with Policy KS11 of the Local Plan and Section 16 of
the NPPF. Once again, consideration to the previously allowed appeal will be required, as
this provides a realistic fallback position. The proposal is therefore considered to be in
accordance with Policy KS11 of the Christchurch and East Dorset Local Plan.

Flood risk and surface water management

47. Policy MEG6 of the Local Plan sets out the requirement for developments within flood
risk areas and stipulates that all development will be required to demonstrate that
flood risk does not increase as a result of the development proposed. The application
site is wholly within Future flood zone 3a (2093 for commercial development), and
Environment Agency (EA) present day flood zone 2; and a large part of the site isin
EA present day flood zone 3. There are existing flood defences in place for up to and
including the 1 in 1000 year flood event. The site is more wvulnerable to tidal flooding
compared to flooding from other sources such as fluvial, surface water or
infrastructure failure and it is considered to have high levels of ground water which is
stated to be less than 3m from ground level.

48. The NPPF in paragraph 174 sets out the aims and requirement for the Sequential
Test to be applied to new development; ‘The aim of the sequential test is to steer
new developmentto areas with the lowest risk of flooding from any source.
Developmentshould not be allocated or permitted if there are reasonably available
sites appropriate for the proposed developmentin areas with a lower risk of flooding'’.
sequential test. However, para 176 of the NPPF (and footnote 62) indicates that the
sequential test is not required for small, non-residential extensions (with a footprint of less
than 250m2). It has been determined that the increased footprint from the
extension, taking into account the footprint of the existing structures to be
demolished is just below 250 m2. Therefore, it has been concluded that in this
particular instance, notwithstanding the overall floor area of the extensions well
exceeds 250m2 the actual footprint does not and therefore in line with the NPPF the
sequential test does not need to be applied to this proposal. Given the Sequential
Test is not required there is no need for the Exception Test to be applied to the
development.

49. A Flood Risk Assessment has been submitted as part of the application. The
Environment Agency have been consulted and not provided any formal consultation
response. However, in the previous application they clarified that given the majority of the
additional floorspace is above ground floor there would be minimal flood risk concerns and
as such the National Standing Advice for extensions would apply. In line with the Standing
Advice, the floor levels should either be no lower than existing floor levels or 600 millimetres
(mm) above the estimated flood level. The existing and proposed floor levels will be 2.20m
AOD. The minimum crest level of the surrounding flood defences is 2.50m AOD which is
above the modelled 1 in 1000 year tidal flood level for the site, which is 2.17m AOD.
Therefore, the site is protected for up to and including the 1 in 1000 year flood event. The
flood risk engineer also notes that the proposal will not increase the flood risk to the site.

50. It was concluded in the previous application that the scheme will not increase the flood risk

on the site or in the immediate locality and appropriate measures can be secured by
Page 14 of 26

30



conditions. The proposed changes from the previous scheme only relate to the windows in

the north elevation. The conditions attached to the previous application would be reattached
in the instance permission is granted. The proposal is therefore considered to be compliant

with Policy MEG6 of the Christchurch and East Dorset Local Plan.

Biodiversity and Heathland Mitigation

51.

52.

53.

54.

55.

Similar to the previous application, a phase 1 ecological assessment report has been
undertaken, which concluded that the site is likely to be suitable for breeding birds, but
these habitats would not be affected by the proposed development. There is negligible
suitability for bats. Given the location adjacent to the river, the site could be used as a
commuting bat route, however the site does not have significant foraging opportunities
given the limited vegetation. The applicant is proposing additional planting along the
northern boundary of the site, 4no. 3 metre trees to replace those being lost to include field
maples and rowan, integral swift nesting boxes and a biodiversity information board as set
out in the Biodiversity Enhancement Plan. These are acceptable and will be secured by
condition.

The site includes a number of trees. These are not the subject of a Tree Preservation
Order, nor is the site within a Conservation Area, which would afford protection to the trees.
However they are considered to provide amenity value to the area. The application has
prepared an arboricultural method statement, with details on the protection of these trees. It
is considered appropriate to condition that the recommendations set out in the statement
are implemented.

The application site lies within 5km but beyond 400m of Dorset Heathland which is
designated as a Site of Special Scientific Interest and as a European wildlife site. The
previous reasons for refusal included harm to the Dorset Heathland due to the lack of
information and the application not being accompanied by a completed unilateral
undertaking.

The current application is now accompanied by a unilateral undertaking to help secure the
necessary contribution towards Strategic Access Management and Monitoring in
accordance with the Dorset Heathlands SPD.

Subject to the signing of the Unilateral Undertaking itis considered the proposal will not
have a harmful impact upon the protected Dorset Heathland and are therefore in
accordance with policy ME2 of the Christchurch core strategy and the Dorset Heathlands
Planning Framework.

Nutrient Neutrality

56.

57.

The application site is within the catchment of the Christchurch Waste Water Recycling
Facility which discharges enriched water into the River Avon which is designated as a
Special Area of Conservation under the Habitat Regulations 2017 and listed as a Ramsar
site.

The River Avon is also designated as a Site of Special Scientific Interest under the Wildlife
and Countryside Act 1981 (as amended). The designated sites are in unfavourable
condition due to high levels of nutrients. The river is phosphorus limited which means that
any addition either directly or indirectly should be deemed to have an adverse impact on it's

integrity.

Page 15 of 26

31



58.  An appropriate assessment (AA) must be undertaken to assess the effects of the proposal,
in combination with other developments on this SAC. Natural England advise that all new
developments which would involve an overnight stay, like this one, within the catchment
should achieve ‘nutrient/phosphate neutrality’. If they do not, then additional phosphate
loads could enter the water environment causing significant adverse effects on the River
Avon SAC.

59. Natural England have been consulted with respect to the proposal and advised that the
phosphates will need to be suitably mitigated. The Council is the competent body for
Appropriate Assessments and ultimately responsible for producing the Habitats Regulation
Assessment in this instance.

60. The applicant has submitted a nutrient calculator for the development and has provided
evidence of the option to purchase credits to offset the phosphate load generated by the
development. Subject to the imposition of a Grampian condition the proposal is considered
to be acceptable in this respect and is considered to be in accordance with Policy ME1 of
the Christchurch and East Dorset Local Plan.

Biodiversity Net Gain (BNG)

61. The NPPF at chapter 15 ‘conserving and enhancing the natural environment’ sets out
government views on minimising the impacts on biodiversity, providing net gains where
possible and contributing to halt the overall decline in biodiversity. The Local Plan Policy
ME1 — biodiversity and geodiversity, sets out policy requirements for the protection and
where possible, a net gainin biodiversity.

62. In addition, a 10% biodiversity net gain (BNG) is required as per the Environment Act 2021
though exemptions apply. This proposal is exempt as it was submitted before the provisions
of the Environment Act were brought into force.

Energy and Sustainability

63. It was considered in the previous application that measures to reduce carbon emissions
and renewable energy provision can be secured by conditions. The proposed changes to
the scheme will not alter this. Therefore, the use of conditions in this current application to
reduce carbon emissions and secure renewable energy provision is acceptable and the
proposal complies with Policy ME3 and ME4 of the Core Strategy.

Conclusion

64. As set out above, the principle of the development has been deemed acceptable.
Furthermore, itis considered that the proposal does not harm the significance of the Heritage
Assets and character and appearance of the locality.

65. Additionally, it is noted that the revised windowsill heights and obscuring the lower part of
each new window on the northern side are sufficient measures to protect the amenity of
neighbouring properties. The above is reinforced by acceptable separation distances from
neighbouring properties.

66. In the context of the Dorset Heathlands, flooding, energy, sustainability and highways
safety/parking, the proposals are considered to be acceptable subject to conditions and
securing the necessary contribution towards Strategic Access Management and Monitoring
in accordance with the Dorset Heathlands SPD.

Page 16 of 26

32



67.

68.

The proposed development will offset the impact of phosphates through the purchase of
credits.

As set out in the report, the proposal benefits from a realistic fallback position in the form of
the allowed appeal decision. As this scheme addresses the concerns that were raised
regarding the previous scheme, itis considered that the proposal should be granted.

Recommendation

The Planning Permission be Grant subject to conditions and the signing of alegal agreement for
heathlands mitigation

Conditions:

1.

The development hereby permitted shall begin not later than the expiration of three years

beginning with the date this permission is granted.

Reason: As required by Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as amended).

The development hereby permitted shall only be carried out in accordance with the following
approved plans:

004 Rev B Site Location Plan

007 Rev A Proposed Site Plan Ground Floor

008 Rev A Proposed Site Plan, Roof Plan

200 Rev B Proposed GA Elevations

100 Rev B Proposed GA Ground & First Floor Plans
101 Rev A Proposed GA Second & Third Floor Plans
102 Rev A Proposed GA Roof Plan

Reason: For the avoidance of doubt and in the interests of proper planning.

No development shall commence unless proposals for the mitigation or offsetting of the impact
of phosphorus arising from the development on the River Avon Special Area of Conservation
(SAC), including mechanisms to secure the timely implementation of the proposed approach,
have been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. Such
proposals must: (a) Provide for mitigation which achieves a phosphorous neutral impact from
the development; and (b) Provide details of the manner in which the proposed mitigation is to
be secured. Details to be submitted shall include arrangements for the ongoing monitoring of
any such proposals which form part of the proposed mitigation measures. The development
shall be carried out in accordance with and subject to the approved proposals.

Reason: To ensure that the development does not increase the phosphate load on the River
Avon SAC, which has been demonstrated to cause harm to the SAC.

No development shall take place until an energy strategy and sustainable construction scheme
has been submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority. The
development shall be carried out in accordance with the approved details.

Reason: To ensure that the proposal meets the required sustainability thresholds.

Page 17 of 26

33



10.

11.

12.

No development shall take place untii a Demolition and Construction Environmental
Management Plan has been submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning
authority. The Demolition and Construction Environmental Management Plan shall be adhered
to throughout the construction period for the development.

Reason: To safeguard the amenity of neighbouring residents.

No development shall take place until a detailed surface water drainage scheme for the site,
including a maintenance and management plan based on sustainable drainage principles, has
been submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority. The development
shall be carried out in accordance with the approved details. The sustainable drainage system
shall be managed and maintained thereafter in accordance with the approved management
and maintenance plan.

Reason: To ensure that the development does not result in increased surface water run off.

No development, above ground, shall take place until details and samples of the materials to
be used in the construction of the external surfaces of the proposed development hereby
permitted have been submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority. The
development shall be carried out in accordance with the approved details and samples.

Reason: In order to ensure that the development integrates with its surroundings

No development, above ground, shall take place until details of the soft landscape works have
been submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority. The landscaping
works shall be carried out in accordance with the approved details before any part of the
development is first occupied. The planting shall be carried out in the first planting and seeding
seasons following completion of the development; and any trees or plants which within a period
of 5 years from the completion of the development die, are removed or become seriously
damaged or diseased shall be replaced in the next planting season with others of similar size
and species.

Reason: To ensure that the development positively integrates with its surroundings

All building services plant (including air conditioning unit and any air handling plant) shall be
sited and designed in order to achieve a rating level (BS4142:2014) of 5dB below the
background noise levels determined in Section 4 of the Plant Noise Assessment carried out
by 24 Acoustics, dated 16th February 2023 (Ref, R9895-1, Rev 0).

Reason: To protect the amenity of neighbouring residents

The development hereby permitted shall not be occupied until the cycle parking facilities have
been provided in accordance with the approved plans. Thereafter those spaces shall be
retained for the parking of cycles only.

Reason: To provide adequate cycle parking facilities for the development

The development shall be carried out in accordance with the Arboricultural Impact Assessment
and Method Statement prepared by Soundwood Tree Consultancy dated November 2022.

Reason: To ensure the protection of trees

No external lighting is to be installed other than in accordance with a scheme which has first
been submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority.

Page 18 of 26

34



Reason: To protect the amenity of the neighbouring residents

13. The development hereby permitted shall not be occupied until a Biodiversity Site Enhancement
Plan has been submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority. The
development shall be carried out in accordance with the approved details and the Ecological
Assessment dated October 2022.

Reason: To ensure that protected species are adequately protected.

14. The development hereby permitted shall not be occupied until an emergency plan in the event
of a flood event has been submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority.
The development shall be carried out in accordance with the approved details and the plan
accorded with for the lifetime of the development.

Reason: To ensure that adequate safeguards are in place in the event of a flood. 1.

Background Documents:
Documents uploaded to that part of the Council’'s website that is publicly accessible and
specifically relates to the application the subject of this report including all related
consultation responses, representations and documents submitted by the applicant in
respect of the application.
Notes.

This excludes all documents which are considered to contain exempt information for the
purposes of Schedule 12A Local Government Act 1972.

Reference to published works is not included.

Page 19 of 26

35



Appendix 1: Appeal Decision reference APP/NV1260/W/23/3327258 (8/22/1069/FUL)

A% The Planning Inspectorate

Appeal Decision

Site visit made on 20 November 2024 by Bhupinder Thandi BA (Hons) MA MRTPI
an Inspector appointed by the Secretary of State

Decision date: 23 January 2025

Appeal Ref: APP/VV1260/W/23/3327258
The Captains Club Hotel, Wick Lane, Christchurch BH23 1HU

The appeal is made under section 78 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as amended)
against a refusal to grant planning permission.

The appeal is made by FiveM Developments against the decision of Bournemouth Christchurch
and Poole Council.

The application Refis 8/22/1069/FUL.
The development proposed is an extension to the existing hotel to create additional hotel
bedrooms and suites and ancillary plant rooms.

Decision
1. The appeal is allowed and planning permission is granted for an extension to the existing
hotel to create additional hotel bedrooms and suites and ancillary plant rooms at The
Captains Club Hotel, Wick Lane, Christchurch BH23 1HU in accordance with the
application 8/22/1069/FUL subject to the schedule of conditions set out at the end of this
decision.

Preliminary Matters

2. The Government published a revised National Planning Policy Framework (the Framework)
on 12 December 2024. Those parts of the Framework most relevant to this appeal have not
been amended. As a result, | have not sought submissions on the revised Framework, and |
am satisfied that no interested parties have been prejudiced by my approach.

3. The appellanthas submitted a certified copy of a Unilateral Undertaking (UU) providing a
financial contribution towards mitigating the impact of the proposed developmentupon
habitat sites. | have addressed this in my reasoning below.

Main Issues

4. The mainissues are:
The effect of the proposed developmentupon the living conditions of nearby occupiers with
regard to overlooking, light pollution and disturbance;
The effect upon the integrity of the Dorset Heathlands Special Protection
Area (SPA), Ramsar and the Dorset Heaths Special Area of Conservation (SAC); and

o The effect of the proposed developmentupon the River Avon Special Area of Conservation
(SAC);

[ ]

Reasons

Living conditions of existing occupiers

Page 20 of 26

36



. The appeal site comprises The Captains Club Hotel which occupies a prominent position on
the River Stour. The hotel has a modern appearance incorporating large amounts of glazing
and is a distinctive landmark feature within the area.

. The area is generally mixed in character comprising the hotel, a roming club and residential
development. In this context located to the north are three storey dwellings on Creedy Drive
with habitable rooms and balconies facing the rear of the hotel. The highway and a pay and
display car park separate the built form of the dwellings and hotel with hedgerow and trees
defining the common boundary.

. The proposal would introduce areas of glazing in the elevation facing Creedy Drive where
there are currently very few. There would be windows serving a total of 30 rooms and on
this basis, | acknowledge that the sense of being overlooked as well as the levels of privacy
would likely change. However, the key question is whether unacceptable harm to the living
conditions of occupiers would arise or would the resultant developmentand associated
levels of privacy be appropriate and reasonable bearing in mind the presence of the hotel
and the surrounding context.

. There is no adopted numerical guidance in respect of separation distances between
residential properties and commercial uses. In this regard, the consideration of the impact
of the proposal upon the living conditions of existing occupiers of nearby houses is one of
planning judgementbased on the merits of the scheme.

. The Appellant’s Overlooking Analysis document indicates that separation distances would
vary but there would be a minimum distance of just over 26m between the hotel room
windows proposed and 29 Creedy Drive and a distance of around 31m between the hotel
and No 21 and | have no substantive evidence before me to dispute the distances set out in
this assessment.

10.In my judgementand having regard to the surrounding context the separation and the

greater mass and height of the proposal would be acceptable. There would be adequate
separation between the windows proposed and nearby dwellings. In any case such
relationships between windowed elevations are not unusual in built up areas, such as
this.

11.Furthermore, the spatial relationship between the resultant developmentand nearby

dwellings would be more generous than those generally found locally. There would be
limited opportunity for direct overlooking of balconies, into windows and garden areas on
account of the overall distances involved between the hotel and nearby dwellings.
Accordingly, | am satisfied that the proposed development would not give rise to an
unacceptable degree of overlooking that would lead to a loss of privacy.

12.Taking into account the internal layout of the hotel bedrooms and that the outlook from

these rooms is onto vehicle parking areas it is unlikely that hotel patrons would spend
significant periods of time at windows. It is more likely that they would use the room as a
base to rest and refresh prior to and after utilising the hotel facilities or enjoying the local
area. In my view the proposal would not result in unduly intrusive views into habitable
rooms or balconies from hotel bedrooms. Consequently, | am not persuaded that the
proposed developmentwould lead to existing residents altering their behaviour when in
their properties.

13.The hotel has 17 bedrooms and 12 suites. The proposal would resultin 29 extra rooms and

7 suites and a commensurate increase in the number of guests. Whilst the bulk of the
rooms would be to the rear there are no roof terraces facing the car park and the position of
the hotel entrance and facilities including the bar and restaurant would remain

alona the river's edae. As such. noise from occupation of the rooms is unlikely to be
perceivable from outside. In addition, a condition has been imposed limiting noise from
plant and machinery.

14.With the increased number of bedrooms and suites there would be additional pedestrian

and vehicular activity, however, itis not an inevitable consequence that it would give rise to

Page 21

37



unacceptable levels of noise or anti-social behaviour. | am also mindful that higher noise
levels are to be expected in mixed commercial areas and areas of tourist activity.

15.Hotel windows would be illuminated throughout periods of darkness but considering the
comings and goings associated with natrons’independence and own work or leisure
routines it is likely that lighting window conditions would be constantly changing. There is
nothing to suggest that internal light levels would be excessively bright. Given the variable
nature of internal lighting and that in evenings curtains would be typically drawn | am
satisfied that obtrusive light spill would not occur. Furthermore, itis likely that when patrons
are not in their room the key card system would turn off lights.

16.As such, | am satisfied that there would be no harmful loss of privacy, lightintrusion or
disturbance for existing occupiers. The proposed developmentwould therefore accord with
Policy HEZ2 of the Christchurch and East Dorset Local Plan Part 1 Core Strategy (2014)
(CS) which, amongst other things, requires new developmentto be compatible with its
surroundings in terms of its relationship with nearby properties.

Impact upon the Dorset Heathlands SPA, Ramsar and Dorset Heaths SAC

17.The appeal site lies within close proximity to the Dorset Heathlands SPA, Ramsar site and
the Dorset Heaths SAC. The Dorset Heathlands are an extensive network of lowland heath
recognised for their importance for nature conservation. As such, itis recognised by the
Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 2017 (the Regulations) as an area of
international importance.

18. Adopting a precautionary principle and without mitigation new residential developmentis
likely to have a significant effect on the sensitive interest features of the habitat sites, from
human pressures and increased nitrogen levels either alone or in combination with other
proposals causing harm to nature conservation. It is necessary for me, as the competent
authority for the purposes of the Regulations, to conduct an Appropriate Assessment (AA)
in relation to the effect of the development on the integrity of the SPA, Ramsar and SAC
sites.

19.The Dorset Heathlands Planning Framework Supplementary Planning Document
(SPD) provides a strategic mitigation framework to secure the appropriate avoidance or
mitigation measures. The document sets out Strategic Access Managementand Monitoring
Measures which require a mitigation payment per residential dwelling from all new
developmentwithin close proximity to the protected habitat sites.

20.Provided mitigation can be secured, in the form of a developer contribution, it can be
concluded proposals would not have an adverse effect on the integrity of the habitat sites
from recreational disturbance, when considered either alone or in combination with other
proposals.

21.The appellanthas submitted a signed and dated UU which commits them to a financial
contribution towards measures outlined in the SPD. | am satisfied that
the contributions would sufficientlv mitiaate the develooment's impact on the integrity of
the SPA, Ramsar Site and SAC.

22.As such, the proposal would accord with CS Policy ME2 and the SPD which, amongst other
things, seek to protect the Dorset Heathlands.

Impact upon the River Avon SAC

23.The appeal site falls within the catchment of the River Avon SAC. It is a large lowland river
system that is recognised by the Regulations as an area of international importance for its
various aquatic species.

24.The River Avon SAC is in an unfavourable condition due to high levels of nutrients. New
overnight accommodation development has the potential to cause adverse effects either
alone or in combination with other developments through discharge, within the river

Page 22

38



catchment, of additional phosphate and thus potentially harming the water quality of the
River Avon SAC.

25. Adopting a precautionary approach - the conservation objectives of the habitat site may be
undermined and thus itis necessary for me, as the competent authority for the purposes of
the Regulations, to conduct an AA inrelation to the effect of the developmenton the
integrity of the River Avon SAC.

26.The appellanthas put forward mitigation, in the form of purchasing nutrient credits from the
Bickton Strategic mitigation scheme, which | am told is the Natural England approved
scheme for the River Avon SAC. In this regard, the appellants have received confirmation
from Pennyfarthing Homeswho operate the mitigation scheme that sufficient capacity
would be available to provide the proposed developmentwith credits.

27.Natural England has confirmed that the proposed measures would be sufficient to avoid an
adverse impact to the integrity of the habitat site in relation to its specified qualifying
features. Accordingly, based on the evidence before me there is reasonable certainty that
the necessary mitigation can be delivered and secured by way of a Grampian condition.

28.As such, | am satisfied that the impact of the developmentas proposed could be mitigated
and that a likely significant effect on the integrity of the River Avon SAC would not occur.

Other Matters

29.There is no doubt that the local environment would change on account of the increase in
the maximum height of the hotel, the overall bulk and mass of the developmentand the
introduction of new fenestration to the rear. However, itwould not be significantly taller than
nearby dwellings with a recessed top floor. The design of the building would also taper
down at the edges reducing its physical and visual impact. As such, there would not be an
unacceptable change to the outlook experienced by occupiers in views so as to materially
harm their living conditions.

30.There is no substantive evidence that the proposed developmentwould unacceptably block
sunlight or daylight to neighbouring dwellings. As such, | give this very limited weight in
coming to my decision.

31.The Council’s Parking Standard Supplementary Planning Document (SPD) indicates that
the resultant optimum car parking provision would be 49 spaces. There is a privately
operated pay and display 47 space car park immediately next to the hotel which is available
for hotel guests and members of the public. This would provide a convenient option for
most visitors. Even if this was at capacity patrons would have the option of parking at either
Willow Way or Mayors Mead public car parks. Whilst capacity may be reduced due to use
of the slipway at the Mayors Mead car park by boat enthusiasts this would be short term
and does not significantly undermine its availability.

32.Whilst some suites would have more than one bedroom itis not necessarily the case that
they would generate more vehicular demand. It is conceivable that visitors such as groups
or families may well choose to book a suite rather than multiple rooms and travel together in
one vehicle. Furthermore, visitors would also have the option to arrive at the hotel via taxi
and therefore not generate a need for parking spaces. As such, | am satisfied that sufficient
parking spaces exist locally to serve the proposed development.

33.Given the period of time patrons would spend at the hotel, either using its facilities or for
overnight stays, visitors are likely to park considerately in designated areas rather than in
an indiscriminate manner. It would be at the discretion of others under different legislation
to enforce any perceived traffic or parking contraventions.

34.1 have been provided with photographic evidence demonstrating instances of flooding close
to the site. The application is supported by a site-specific Flood Risk Assessmentand
Drainage Strategy and there is no substantive evidence, before me, to suggest that the
developmentwould increase the risk of flooding locally or that the overall strategy proposed
would not be sufficient to serve the development. Furthermore, conditions have been

Page 23

39



iImposed for the detailed drainage strategy including its implementation and long-term
maintenance and for an emergency flood plan.

Conditions

35.1 have considered the imposition of conditions in accordance with the Framework and the
Planning Practice Guidance.

36.In addition to the standard time limit condition, | have imposed a condition specifying the
approved plans as this provides certainty. Conditions for details of the external materials,
soft landscaping and external lighting have been imposed in order to ensure the satisfactory
appearance of the development. In the interests of sustainability a condition for an energy
statement and sustainable construction scheme is considered necessary.

37.In order to safeguard the living conditions of nearby residents a condition for a Demolition
and Construction Environmental Management Plan and maximum noise levels from plant
and machinery have been imposed.

38.The Council has suggested a condition for improvement of the National Cycle Network
route. However, sufficient justification as to why this condition is necessary has not been
provided. As such, the condition has not been imposed. A condition for parking and cycling
provision has also been suggested. The existing parking layout is to remain unaltered and
thus the condition has been amended to require the provision of cycle parking only.

39.So0 as to minimise flood risk conditions for a sustainable drainage system and an
emergency flood plan are necessary. The Council has suggested a condition for the
finished ground floor levels to accord with the submitted site section plan and for flood
resilient measures. However, in my view, sufficient justification for the particular flood
resilient measures outlined has not been provided and the proposal would have to be
carried out in accordance with the approved plans. As such, this condition is not necessary
and has not been imposed.

40.1In the interests of biodiversity conditions for a mitigation scheme in respect of the River
Avon SAC and a Biodiversity Site Enhancement Plan have been imposed. Finally, a
condition for the works to be carried out in accordance with the submitted Arboricultural
Method Statement is considered reasonable so as to protect nearby trees.

41.The Council has suggested a condition restricting construction hours. However, such
matters would form part of the Demolition and Construction Environmental Management
Plan and therefore a separate condition is not necessary.

Conclusion
42.For the reasons set out above the appeal succeeds.

B Thandi
INSPECTOR

Schedule of conditions

1. The developmenthereby permitted shall begin not later than three years from the date of
this decision.

2. The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with drawing nos Site
Location Plan Drawing Number 004 Rev B; Existing GA Ground & First Floor Plan Drawing
Number 001; Proposed GA Second

Page 24

40



Floor & Roof Plan Drawing Number 002; Existing GA Elevations Drawing

Number 003; Existing Site Plan Ground Floor Drawing Number 005;

Existing Site Plan Roof Plan Drawing Number 006; Proposed Site Plan

Ground Floor Drawing Number 007 Rev A; Proposed Site Plan Roof Plan

Drawing Number 008 Rev A; Proposed Site Section Drawing Number 009

Rev A; Proposed GA Ground & First Floor Plans Drawing Number 100 Rev

A; Proposed GA Second & Third Floor Plan Drawing Number 101 Rev A; Proposed GA
Roof Plan Drawing Number 102 Rev A; Proposed GA Elevations Drawing Number 200 Rev
A; 3D Views Drawing Number 201 Rev A and 3D Views 2 Drawing Number202 Rev A.

. No developmentshall take place unless proposals for the mitigation or offsetting of the
impact of phosphorus arising from the developmenton the River Avon Special Area of
Conservation, including mechanisms to secure the timely implementation of the proposed
approach, have been submitted to and approved in witing by the local planning authority.
Such proposals must:

. Provide for mitigation which achieves a phosphorous neutral impact from the development;
and

. Provide details of the manner in which the proposed mitigationis to be secured. Details to
be submitted shall include arrangements for the ongoing monitoring of any such proposals
which form part of the proposed mitigation measures. The developmentshall be carried out
in accordance with and subject to the approved proposals.

. No developmentshall take place until an energy strategy and sustainable construction
scheme has been submitted to and approved in witing by the local planning authority. The
developmentshall be carried out in accordance with the approved details.

. No developmentshall take place until a Demolition and Construction Environmental
ManagementPlan has been submitted to and approved in witing by the local planning
authority. The Demolition and Construction Environmental Management Plan shall be
adhered to throughout the construction period for the development.

. No developmentshall take place until a detailed surface water drainage scheme for the
site, based on sustainable drainage principles, has been submitted to and approved in
witing by the local planning authority. The development shall be carried out in accordance
with the approved details. The sustainable drainage system shall be managed and
maintained thereafter in accordance with an approved managementand maintenance
plan.

. No development, above ground, shall take place until details and samples of the materials
to be used in the construction of the external surfaces of the proposed development hereby
permitted have been submitted to and approved in witing by the local planning authority.
The developmentshall be carried out in accordance with the approved details and
samples.

. No development, above ground, shall take place until details of the soft landscape works
have been submitted to and approved in witing by the local planning authority. The
landscaping works shall be carried out in accordance with the approved details before any
part of the developmentis first occupied. The planting shall be carried out in the first
planting and seeding seasons following completion of the development; and any trees or
plants which within a period of 5 years from the completion of the development die, are

Page 25

41



removed or become seriously damaged or diseased shall be replaced in the next planting
season with others of similar size and species.

9. All building services plant (including air conditioning unit and any air handling plant) shall be
sited and designed in order to achieve a rating level (BS4142:2014) of 5dB below the
background noise levels determined in Section 4 of the Plant Noise Assessment carried out
by 24 Acoustics, dated 16th February 2023 (Ref; R9895-1, Rev 0). Within 6 months of the
first use of any of the new plants hereby approved, a noise assessment shall be submitted
to and approved in witing by the local planning authority.

10.The development hereby permitted shall not be occupied until the cycle parking facilities
have been provided in accordance with the approved plans. Thereafter those spaces shall
be retained for the parking of cycles only.

11.The developmentshall be carried out in accordance with the Arboricultural Impact
Assessment and Method Statement dated November 2022.

12.No external lighting is to be installed other than in accordance with a scheme which has first
been submitted to and approved in witing by the local planning authority.

13.The development hereby permitted shall not be occupied until an updated Biodiversity Site
Enhancement Plan has been submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning
authority. The developmentshall be carried out in accordance with the approved details
and the Ecological Assessmentdated October 2022.

14.The development hereby permitted shall not be occupied until an emergency plan in the
event of a flood event has been submitted to and approved in witing by the local planning
authority. The developmentshall be carried out in accordance with the approved details
and the plan maintained for the lifetime of the development.

Page 26

42



mmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmm

3y

eds 73 9104 %00
qnpd s,uteaded oNEna A
auaip/pafosd |evd0STT:T

ioypanss| | 1ON ¥

=

zzzzzzzzzzzzzzzzzzzz

_____________________

0SZT:T 3[83s

—

14

43




This page is intentionally left blank

44



suonersi3 vo pasodoid | 1 1
e

sjo8NyoIe

S0V Sybug

0011 oreos

[ A ]

ONINNVYId

sse|9 enbedQ = 90

0o : 1 - aeos o0z

[T ETEFEETTY e

001 1 -apeos (002 )

uoneAs[3 Ise3\ ¥ )

00} : | - 8leds B
GoneAal3 YHON\ _Z

o

cc_“—.mmoma

uoneAs|3 yinos e

45




This page is intentionally left blank

46



suelg 1001 184

00434 91005

uoy
edS B 10I0H ANIO 8,

ONINNYId

0011 -2je0s | 00L
_ _ ue|d 100[4 punoi9 00-vD |

€ Adesouy.

—
| 1=
B s j om ereny = ]
:
#buno 8 Aqgo1 syeod
—
om wey S
ﬁ b UBUIUN
HeIs 3 — w2 5 Y Jojiog ueld
e

vonouny
uondeosy

86eI0lS PIoD voneig-ang
Teouer3

souenu3
1910H

douspiom

a7

001 : | -9je0s | 004
ue|d 1004 3s114710-VD T

/#/,

ans etoH wooyjeion | woou teion wooy foloH wooy o10H wooy 1910H wooy 1e1oH wooy 910K wooy 810K

wooy e1oH wooysion [ woo jeron wooy 1910H wooy fs10H

wooy feioH

N

wooy fa10H

-

NS 1910H

T
Llidntlilnlidnlllnl Ly

W00y 1910H
Jopwioy

| |
Buideayesnon NH Bunspa (Y Butsng

W00y 1910H

wesss wsow wiszz wsos wove wioe w05z wiose
o 68 88 i) o) 58

<8 “ea




This page is intentionally left blank

48



NN\HH\mO =) 7 umesq 7 :.25_ aeq. 7 g Oom.ﬁ m_mum
Y] aeq | v
10013 Puno.9 eds 3 [230H 00 it — e —
ue|d aus pasodold qnpo s,ure3ded ©ONENQ :Agpareip Z wsg 0z Sl Ol S 0, ) ,

) ; . JioaNo2y 0w o powodes aq w0 sofpus 1o Aue pue ) 501 S50 P¥OELD G PINGUS SLOISUSWIP 110 BUSS Iy »
:Buimesq quaip/pelord |ev@® 00S:T 22/11/60 et pecuddy ietio junio: BUBREAIOWY 8507 o EAGUcak .

13805 :a3eq pue siayddns UBisep Jaupn) 0} 19[qns a1e pue Ajuo sesodind Jua)

ONINNVY1d 9100T ir Juasuoo jouoD Buipiing pue B

110} panss| 0N 13loid :Ag umesg

k@Q ,

uoojuod

asnoH anio " A ,
Bumoy " R Ry

pieA Jeog

9SNOH SMO.IE

| yed T
SpISIonlY




This page is intentionally left blank

50



Sj08)Y0Ie

ybug

ae;&_momg

Ued Jooy pasodoid-yo | )

51




This page is intentionally left blank

52



UBlf 100} Py L
% puooeg vo pesodoid

e

e

BdS % 1330H 4n;

ONINNVYId

00171 oreos

auns feroH

2uns jBIoH

SN 10K

2uns eroH

auns fBIoH

NS etoH

Jopuioo
2N fajon

sueig.

vea

m wl
C 0

obeorosnon

sed

NS 1B1oH

AN\ opoo

g

aoeue)

ooeua

ooeua

oeua) L

aoeua)

92UnS feioH

5 2UnS 81K

‘ea1y 10eld MAN

628

‘sza

1 eI IBion

<] Budssistnon

sissuapioD pue
Y By el MmNy

Zeing joioH

s

St_&_muwa

Ued 1001 PUG2aS 20 VO \ I )

auns feroH

St_,m_muwa

UE[d 100[d PAUL €0 YO\ 2 )

53




This page is intentionally left blank

54



e ] e [ 005:T 9[5S

Py L b ;
v oy oeq | v N B AR SERE ¥
ue|d Jooy eds g [210H 00 i — i —
oNBMa  iAg paypal
sjoeyose ue|d s pasodoud qnio s,uteide NEG,  Aapersiy Z wsg 0z ST Ol g 0 ) \
d 3 & - 1 198NYRY 8y} O] pepiodas oq 10 Jojpue 1p Aue pue 1 Joud BYIS-UO PBY0BYD 89 PINOYS SUOISUBWIP 1o Bumes [y«
:Buimesq avaip/afoid |ev@ 005 T 22/11/60 P oedsiil penc.xddy Liswo 5o BUmE Aoty 18507 Lok, Noudde pUs Uogmynedoo o psfine sscdoly
p 13805 2180 pue ssayddns Y uBISap JULIN] O} 10IGNS a1E pue Ajuo Sasodind JUaJU UBIS3P 1O Ale UMOYS SIIZIp UL ®
- ONINNVY1d 91002 i JuBsUD [0JU0D BuIPNg puE BUIUB| 0} 109(NS o2 SBUMEIp (1Y &
1104 panss| 0N 3014 :Ag umeiq 910N

wa» .

uoojuod

9snoH an|D
Buimoy

pieA Jeog

9SNOH SMO.IE

ped
opisionly




This page is intentionally left blank

56



zz/11/01 ) _ umeig 7 ) 7 umeig 7 e RS
g oy oeq | v ow
(s9|8ue BuImalA YIm) eds 13 [910H o0 | s i w3
sjoeuyoe u013235 AYS pasodold qn|J s,uiexded IONSMg  Ag paoayd
Q 4 5 - Ai@1erpeww 10811y 8l 0} PeLodes 8q PINOYS SUOISSILIO Jo/puE SeipuedasISIp AUE PUE LONISUCD 0} Joud BYS-UO PaYIBUD 80 PINOYS SUOISUBWIP N0 BUIBS Iy«
Bumesq audl/pdloid |Ev@ 0SCT w/ a.ﬁ\ ot Jojoadsul penouddy Ue 10 (0400 Bup|Ng Alouiny (507 wios [eroidde pue UoNENNSUCD 0} 1aldns siesodold e
= :3[e25 :31eq 1oEAU00-ns pue siayddns Ly UBISap JauyNj 0} 108[qNs aJe pue Ajuo sesodind 1UBIU UBISaP 10) B2 UNOUS SIEIOP BYL
. ONINNV1d 9100¢ 1 JosUCo (04U BUIPING PUE BullIEId 0} oolans oJe SBUMEIP I+
1104 panss| ‘0N 13loid :Ag umelq :s310N
0STT:T 3[edS
P ue|d Aey uonoss
wsL 0S S¢ 0
€ z T 0 pues 4 v
sabeis Bupue K g
—
IleH
19peg eas
-
||||| PleA jeog
~
S
s
s
e
N
< o= s
— - - -
S
e T RS ES
S
~
ey
=3
s
B~
=2
I~
SRS
S
S
S
mopum jo ped juaiedsuel A|jny ybnouyy sajbue Buimeln Bumig  ----------- N~
mopuim jo Jed jusiedsuen Ajiny ybnouyy sejbue Bumala Buipueyg  -----------
0S¢:T 3|eds
Buipiing Bupsixe Jo BUIPNQ = = = = = < < CO:.OO@ Ou_._m UOWOQQ
wet ot S 0
iy o= a dd Y doNd ¥ §a 40 £2
woo ~— "
. B | 1 aov = I T © ©
P = aov wozz I wyE) == —
> , !
1 3N
1 N . %
- é (L -
o8

aov wL vk

A




This page is intentionally left blank

58



Planning Committee

BCP

Council

Application Address

The Bridge, 947 Christchurch Road, Bournemouth, BH7 6AZ

Proposal

Demolition of existing flats and Outline Submission for
erection of a building of up to seven storeys for up to 46
apartments (with all matters for consideration other than
landscaping).

Application Number

7-2024-5331-1

Applicant Park Place Properties Ltd
Agent Chapman Lily Planning Ltd
Ward Boscombe East & Pokesdown
Clir Eleanor Connolly and Clir George Farguhar
Report Status Public
Meeting Date 8 May 2025
Recommendation
Refuse

Reason for Referral to
Planning Committee

Called in by Councillor Farguhar
Considers that the proposal is contrary to the following
Boscombe and Pokesdown Neighbourhood Plan policies:

e BAP 1 Scale and density of development
BAP 2 good design for the 215t Century

e Bap 6 Proposals for 10 or more units which include: —
50% 3 bedrooms or larger dwellings; — 40% 2
bedroom dwellings; — 10% 1 bedroom dwellings;

Agenda Item 8b

Case Officer Peter Walters
Is the proposal EIA No
development

1. Description of Development

1.1  Outline planning consent is sought for the demolition of existing flats and the erection of a
replacement building of up to seven storeys for up to 46 apartments. Matters relating to
access, scale, layout and appearance are to be considered under this application.
Landscaping is to remain a reserved matter.

2. Key Issues

Page 1 of 15

59



2.1

2.2

The considerations involved with this application are:

The principle of development

Impact on character and appearance of the area
Housing Mix

Impact on the amenity of neighbouring residents
Amenity of Future Occupiers

Highway Safety and Parking

Impact on Neighbouring Railway

Heathland Mitigation

Biodiversity Net Gain

Affordable Housing Provision

Bin Storage

These points will be discussed as well as other material considerations at para 8.5 to 8.43
below.

Planning Policies

Core Strategy (2012)

CS1: National Planning Policy Framework — Presumption in Favour of Sustainable
Development

CS13: Increasing Opportunities for cycling and walking

CS16: Parking Standards

CS18: Increasing Opportunities for Cycling and Walking

CS21: Housing Distribution Across Bournemouth

CS33: Heathland

CS41: Design Quality

District Wide Local Plan (2002) Saved policies:

Policy 4.25 — Landscaping
Policy 6.10 — Flats Redevelopment
Policy 8.1 — Development on Primary & County Distributor Routes

Emerging BCP Local Plan

Following the recommendation by the Planning Inspector following Stage 1 of the Local
Plan examination that the Plan should be withdrawn, the policies in it are at present
considered to carry negligible weight. If the Council opts to follow the recommendation of
the Inspector, the policies will carry no weight. Policies that would apply to the proposal are
as follows

Policy C2: Sustainable construction and low carbon energy
Policy C7: Sustainable Drainage (SuDS)

Policy NE2: Habitats sites and wildlife sites

Policy NE3: Biodiversity

Policy H1: Housing Delivery

Policy H2: Affordable Housing

Policy H3: Housing Mix

Policy H4: Internal and external space standards

Policy T2: Transport and Development

Page 2 of 15

60



Policy P3: Boscombe East and Pokesdown

Boscombe and Pokesdown Neighbourhood Plan (2019)

BAP1 - The scale and density of development
BAP2 — Good design for the 215t Century
BAPG6 — The number and type of new homes
BAP7 — The quality of new homes

Supplementary Planning Documents:
Dorset Heathlands Planning Framework SPD 2020-2025

Residential Development: A Design Guide — PGN (2008)
Sustainable Urban Drainage Systems (SUDS) - PGN
Bournemouth Parking — SPD

The National Planning Policy Framework (2024)

Paragraph 11 —
“Plans and decisions should apply a presumption in favour of sustainable development.

For decision-taking this means:

(c) approving development proposals that accord with an up-to-date development plan
without delay; or

(d) where there are no relevant development plan policies, or the policies which are most
important for determining the application are out-of-date, granting permission unless:

I. the application of policies in this Framework that protect areas or assets of particular
importance provides a strong reason for refusing the development proposed; or

ii. any adverse impacts of doing so would significantly and demonstrably outweigh the
benefits, when assessed against the policiesin this Framework taken as a whole, having
particular regard to key policies for directing development to sustainable locations, making
effective use of land, securing well-designed places and providing affordable homes,
individually orin combination.”

4. Relevant Planning Applications and Appeals:

e 7-2003-5331-C — Erection of a three/four storey block of ten flats, formation of new
vehicular accesses and parking spaces — Granted

e 7-2003-5331-D — Erection of 3 /4 storey block of 14 flats, formation of vehicular accesses
and parking spaces. Granted

e 7-2004-5331-E — Erection of a 3/ 4 storey block of 14no. flats, formation of vehicular
access and parking spaces — Amended plan for application 7-2003-5331-D. Granted

e 7-2021-5331-F - Prior approval procedure — Erection of 2 additional storeys on the existing
block of flats to create 11 additional units. Refused

e 7-2021-5331-G — Prior approval procedure — Erection of 2 additional storeys on the existing
block of flats to create 9 additional flats. Granted

e 7-2022-5331-H — Outline submission for a seven storey side extension, rear extension,
exterior redesign with internal alterations, and extension to roofspace for three additional
floors to form 31x flats with some matters reserved (45 flats in total) (amended plans).
Refused for the following reasons:

Page 3 of 15

61



e The proposed development, by reason of the excessive height, scale, mass,
bulk, site coverage, detailed design, and excessive density of the development,
would form an overly large and unsympathetic developmentwhich would appear
too large for the site and out of keeping with the character and appearance of the
area. The proposals would therefore be contrary to the aims of Policy 6.10 of the
Bournemouth District Wide Local Plan (2002), Policies CS21 and CS41 of the
Bournemouth Local Plan: Core Strategy (2012), Policies BAP1 and BAP7 of the
Boscombe and Pokesdown Neighbourhood Plan (2019), Residential
Development: A Design Guide (2008), and the NPPF.

e The proposed development, by reason of the mix of units provided, would result
in a developmentthat does not cater to identified local housing need. The
proposals fail to provide sufficient evidence to demonstrate that the density and
housing mix is appropriate on this site. In addition, it has not been sufficiently
demonstrated that future occupants of the site would have a satisfactory
standard of living having regard to the size and outlook of the units as well as
potential noise and disturbance. The proposed developmentwould therefore fail
to meet the aims of Policies BAP1,BAP6 and BAP7 of the Boscombe and
Pokesdown Neighbourhood Plan (2019) as well as CS21 and CS41 of the
Bournemouth Local Plan: Core Strategy (2012) and of Policy 6.10 of the
Bournemouth District Wide Local Plan (2002).

® Furthermore, itis considered that the developmentwould be harmful to
designated Dorset Heathlands SPA (Special Protection Area), Ramsar Site and
Dorset Heaths SAC (Special Area of Conservation). The failure to make an
appropriate contribution towards mitigation measures would have an adverse
effect on the integrity of the sites and is considered contrary to Policy CS33 of
the Bournemouth Local Plan: Core Strategy (October 2012).

5. Representations

5.1 Site notices were posted in the vicinity of the site on 16/02/2024 with an expiry date for
consultation of 08/03/2024.

5.2 4 representations have been received, 3 raising objection; 0 in support and 1 comments.
The issues raised comprise the following:-

Page 4 of 15

Overlooking

Concerns regarding publicity of the application

Density of development too high

High density development with poor amenity results in social issues and is contrary
to policy BAP 1 of the Boscombe and Pokesdown Neighbourhood Plan.

Contrary to Policy BAP 2 as the development would be out of keeping with the area.
it would exceed the general height in adjacent and original buildings which is
described as consisting of "mainly detached and pairs of semi-detached and
terraced housing dating from the Edwardian period. The area is generally of a
domestic, two storey scale”

Loss of 2 bed and 3 bed flats to be replaced by 1 bed flats will displace families living
in the existing property, contrary to Policy BAP6

Concerns regarding loss of existing shrubbery and trees

Road is too congested

Lack of car parking a concern

Highway safety concerns for pedestrians

62



Consultations

Urban Design: Object

In my opinion there is some potential for intensification on this site given the location
on a main road with shops, facilities and public transport within a short walk.
However, the proposed density of 460 dwellings per hectare is too high. This is
completely at odds with Neighbourhood Plan policy BAP 1 which resists densities
above 100 dwellings per hectare. In my opinion this is overdevelopment and the
building would appear bulky, overbearing and unrelated to its surroundings. | note
that the existing building was only consented 20 years ago. | can't see any
explanation for the need to redevelop such a new building and | would have thought
that modest extensions and modifications would make better use of resources as
well as sitting more comfortably in the context.

Health and Safety Executive: Comments

“Should the Local Planning Authority be minded to grant outline planning permission,
we strongly recommend the following:

« the outline planning permission is subject to a suitable condition requiring the
submission of a satisfactory fire statement with any reserved matters application;
and,

« that HSE (Planning Gateway One) is consulted in conjunction with the Local
Planning Authority’s consideration of any reserved matters application.”

Network Rail: Comments

Developer must ensure that the proposal does not affect the neighbouring railway
during or after construction.

Subsequent maintenance must be able to be done without encroaching onto the
railway.

Highways: No objection
25/03/2025 — following further submission of details

Highways initially objected due to the siting of the underground bin store (which has
now been removed from amended plans) and the failure to provide an SPD
compliant cycle store. Amended plans shows an integral cycle store with 68 spaces
in an SPD compliant arrangement. SPD compliant arrangement ensures that
sufficient onsite parking is provided.

Vehicular and pedestrian access arrangements, as well servicing arrangements
utilising an operational parking bay, remain as previously proposed and considered
acceptable. Details pertaining to necessary alterations to the footway to facilitate
access, and to reinstate the kerb to improve the walking network, can be secured by
condition.

As stated within the LHA’s previous consultation response, a car-free development
of this scale is expected to result in a significant increase in non-car trips, namely
those undertaken on foot, by cycle and via public transport. To mitigate the impact of
the proposed development and to improve the sustainable travel infrastructure,
namely the construction of the primary cycle route along Christchurch Road, as
identified within the LCWIP, a financial contribution of £12,144.00 is required.

7. Constraints

Page 5 of 15

63



8.1

8.2

8.3

8.4

Bournemouth Airport Safeguarding Area (maximum height of buildings limited to 45m.
Officer note — building height is 29m)

Within 5km of heathlands

Adjacent Railway line

Planning Assessment

Site and Surroundings

The area is transitional, from the secondary shopping area of Christchurch Road, beginning
on the western side of the railway line, with a variety of different dwellings and architectural
styles. Immediately adjacent and opposite the site are residential properties, however
further to the east are a series of commercial properties including retail units and a vehicle
tyre garage. Beyond this, are predominantly residential dwellings.

Residential properties are largely two storeys and predominantly consist of dwellinghouses.
However, there are a number of blocks of flats, including on the northern side of
Christchurch Road. There are a few examples of three storey buildings in the area, the
existing building is the tallest building in the immediate vicinity.

The site is adjacent to the A35 Christchurch Road, which is key route within Bournemouth
and is served by regular buses. The site is approximately 100m from Pokesdown Train
Station, which is on the Bournemouth to London mainline, and the railway line runs
immediately to the south of the site. The site is located in a highly sustainable location.

The application site itself is a triangular shape and measures approximately 0.1ha, and
currently comprises 14 flats with parking to the east and the west of the building. The
existing building reaches a maximum height of 4 storeys and has a traditional appearance.

Key Issues

Principle of development

8.5

8.6

8.7

The heart of the NPPF includes a presumption in favour of sustainable development, and
this is reiterated in Policy CS1 of the Core Strategy of the Bournemouth Local Plan. NPPF
paragraph 11 applies this presumption to decision making whether the local plan is classed
as out of date or not. In this instance, some of the policies of the Local Plan are considered
to be out of date. Footnote 8 of paragraph 11 classifies a local plan as out of date if the
local planning authority is (i) unable to demonstrate a five-year supply of deliverable
housing sites or (ii) where the Housing Delivery Test (HDT) result is less than 75% of the
housing requirement over the previous three years.

The 5-year housing supply and HDT results continue to be applied to each local plan area
separately until replaced by a BCP wide Local Plan. In the Bournemouth area there isa 2.1
year housing land supply with a 20% buffer (a shortfall of 4,862 homes) and a 2022 HDT
result of 73%. The local plan policies retaining to housing are therefore considered as out of
date as the Local Planning Authority is unable to demonstrate a five-year supply of homes
and under the HDT test threshold of 75%. The presumption in favour of sustainable
development applies.

NPPF Paragraph 11 states that where policies which are most important for determining the
application are out of date, planning permission must be granted unless policies in the

Page 6 of 15

64



8.8

8.9

8.10

8.11

Framework that protect areas or assets of particular importance provide a strong reason for
refusing the development proposals or any adverse impacts of granting permission would
significantly and demonstrably outweigh the benefits when assessed against the policies in
the Framework taken as a whole.

For this planning application the benefits provided from the supply of new homes will have
significant weight and a ‘tilted balance’ in favour of the grant of planning permission. For the
local planning authority to refuse this development, the benefits of the provision of new
homes must be significantly and demonstrably outweighed by the adverse impacts or where
specific policies in the NPPF provide a strong reason for refusal, in line with Footnote 7 of
the NPPF.

In this particular case the site is considered acceptable in principle for residential
intensification, as acknowledged by Policy CS21 of the Core Strategy because it is located
on a key transport route. The development would make a notable contribution towards local
housing supply in a sustainable location. Paragraph 124 of the NPPF states “planning
policies and decisions should support development that makes efficient use of land”.

The site is not an allocated site in the neighbourhood plan, but residential is considered an
acceptable use for the location, as evidenced by the existing block of flats.

The Boscombe and Pokesdown Neighbourhood Plan (2019) is relevant to the proposal, and
forms part of the development plan documents.

Impact on character and appearance of the area

8.12

8.13

8.14

The design of the building, in contrast to the existing building, would take a contemporary
approach. In terms of materials, the applicant proposes the use of aluminium fascia and
metalworks, Weinerberger Forum Smoked Branco, Avenue Smooth black and Ashley Red
multi-bricks. The form of the building is mildly staggered, with the eastern end being 4
storeys, rising to 7 storeys throughout the rest of the building. The top floor is inset to
reduce the prominence of the building. The southern elevation of the building is tapered to
accommodate the shape of the site, as a result the building would be wider at its eastern
end than it would be at the western end. Most of the buildings along Christchurch Road
follow a more conventional rectilinear form. The acute angle would therefore appear jarring
in the street scene in comparison to the character of the area around it.

The proposed building would utilise a flat roof instead of the pitched roofs that tend to
prevail in the area and are most prominent on residential buildings. As such, the roof form
does not relate well to the context of the area.

The building would have a height of 7 storeys. This is significantly higher than the buildings
in the surrounding area (the tallest building in the area is the existing building that would be
replaced) and the area has a generally domestic scale. It is acknowledged that a prior
approval has previously been approved (7-2021-5331-G) which would allow an increase in
the height of the building. However, the proposed scheme would represent an increase in
the height of approximately 2m along much of the building line. While it is acknowledged
that the tower element would be taller, this represents only a small element of the approved
building. The width of the proposed building extends further than the existing building and
therefore the difference in height of the proposed and the approved is more pronounced at

Page 7 of 15

65



8.15

8.16

8.17

8.18

8.19

the eastern and western ends of the site. The difference in height between the existing and
approved building increases to approximately 5.5m and then 7.5m. As a result, the building
would be more visually dominant within the street scene than the existing building would be.
it should also be noted that more than three years have passed since the Prior Approval
was granted and therefore this has now lapsed. As such, this does not form an immediate
fallback position for the applicant, however, there have been no substantive changes since
the prior approval application was granted and therefore it is likely that a future prior
approval application would be supported.

In addition, the proposal would result in the loss of the existing car parking spaces with the
footprint of the building covering a much greater extent of the site. As the footprint of the
building is staggered (to accommodate the railway line to the rear of the site) this results in
a taller building in an area currently serving as a car park. Although the staggered effect will
serve to reduce to a degree the visual impact on Christchurch Road and the most easterly
part of the building has a lower roof height (approximately 17.7m instead of 20.7m) it will
still be read in the street scene as a significantly larger structure with a much greater
massing than either what has been approved or what exists on the site. The scale of the
proposed building is significantly larger than anything that is noted in the area.

The tower feature on the existing building is visible for approximately 450m to the west of
the site along Christchurch Road. Due to the change in land levels and curves in the road
the existing building cannot be seen from a significant distance to the east. The applicant
has opted not to show CGI visualisations of the proposed building from the east, however,
given the road rises towards the site, it is considered likely that it would be visually
prominent when approached from this direction.

In addition to the increased mass of the building, the increased footprint reduces any
opportunities for landscaping. However, as this is a reserved matter, it cannot be
considered in detail at this stage of the application process.

The density of the development is also considered to be excessive in the area. The
Boscombe and Pokesdown Neighbourhood Plan Policy BAP1 seeks to resist density above
100 dwellings per hectare unless the need for the density can be justified by means of
viability or to meet identified housing need. In this instance, the proposed development
would have a density of 460 dwellings per hectare. The justification for this is the Council’s
Housing Land Supply position resulting in an identified housing need. This is considered in
greater detail later in the report. Unless this justification is considered appropriate the
proposed development is considered to constitute overdevelopment of the site and is
therefore contrary to the Boscombe and Pokesdown Neighbourhood Plan. It is noted that
Policy BAP1 also resists the demolition of buildings unless they are of poor quality design
and out of keeping with the wider area. In this instance, the existing building is one of the
most prominent in the area, visible for some distance to the west of the site along
Christchurch Road. As such, the demolition of the building would be acceptable.

Taking account of the above, the proposal does not accord with Policy CS41 of the
Bournemouth Local Plan and BAP1 of the Boscombe and Pokesdown Neighbourhood Plan.
In addition, the NPPF has placed increased importance on high quality design. Paragraph
139 of the NPPF states that development that is not well designed should be refused,
especially where it fails to reflect local design policies and government guidance on design.

Impact on the amenity of the neighbouring residents

Page 8 of 15

66



8.20

8.21

8.22

8.23

8.24

8.25

The area is predominantly residential in nature, although there are some commercial
properties on Christchurch Road. The nearest residential properties are immediately to the
east of the site. At its closest point the building would be approximately 2m from the
boundary of the neighbouring properties to the east (2 storey 951 and 953 Christchurch
Road). The previously approved building features a pitched roof on the eastern elevation
that rises to a height of approximately 10.3m, however, the eaves height nearest the
neighbouring properties reach a height of approximately 5m. The existing building is
approximately 6.2m from the boundary of the neighbouring property. In contrast, while the
proposed building is stepped back a little further on the first floor (approximately 6.5m from
the eastern boundary, it rises to a height of approximately 11.5m. the roof is flat so in
contrast to the approved scheme with its pitched roof. As such, there is considered to be a
greater impact of the increased height of the building than would be the case if a pitched
roof was employed.

Both the approved scheme and the proposed scheme step up in height. However, the
height of the proposed building projects further to the east (and therefore closer to the
neighbouring property. As such, within 10m of the boundary the height of the building steps
up approximately 17.6m. Within 12.5m of the boundary the height of the proposed building
reaches the height of approximately 20m.

The rear elevation of the building projects closer to the boundary of the 951 Christchurch
Road (approximately 2m). The building is less staggered than the front elevation and as
such, with approximately 2.5m of the boundary of the neighbouring property the building
rises to a height of approximately 18m.

It is considered that this relationship between the proposed development and 951
Christchurch Road would be harmful. The proposed development would have an
overbearing impact on the neighbouring residential property from the rear windows of the
property. This would result in a sense of side enclosure to the property, particularly as a
result of the height of the proposed development in comparison to the existing neighbouring
property. Officers note that Inspectors have previously concluded that this can be harmful to
the amenity of neighbours (for example 2-4 Ringers Road and 5 Ethelbert Road, Bromley —
ref APP/G5180/W/24/3340223 where the Inspector states: “Residents of these properties
would be subject to a sense of side enclosure of garden spaces, and of intrusion due to the
buildings’ overbearing effects”.). Given the significant difference in heights of the
neighbouring property and the proposed development, officers consider that this
relationship would be harmful in this respect.

In terms of privacy, itis noted that there are some windows in the side (eastern) elevation of
the property overlooking the neighbouring property. These windows are serving the stairwell
and communal halls for the apartments. As such, they are not considered to have an impact
on the privacy of neighbouring residents. Apartments on the first to third floors also have
balconies and eastern aspect windows. However, these will not overlook the rear gardens
of the neighbouring properties and there are no windows in the western elevation of the
neighbouring properties. As such, officers consider that the proposal would not have a
harmful impact on the privacy of 951 and 953 Christchurch Road.

As noted there are residential properties across Christchurch Road to the north of the site.
Although there will be a degree of mutual overlooking between the neighbouring properties

Page 9 of 15

67



8.26

this relationship is accepted in an urban area. However, once again, the mass and height of
the proposed building is considered to be likely to have a harmful impact on the
neighbouring properties, particularly 968 and 974. The proposed development is situated to
the south of these neighbouring properties and will therefore be in shadow as a result of the
proposed development. This will impact the living conditions of the occupants of the
neighbouring properties. In addition, the mass and height of the building is considered to
have a domineering effect on 960 — 974 Christchurch Road given its height and massing.

Taking account of the above, the proposal is considered to have a harmful impact on the
amenity of neighbouring residents and is therefore considered to fail to comply with Policy
CS41 of the Bournemouth Local Plan Plan Core Strategy CS41 — Quality Design and Policy
BAP 2 — Good Design for the 215t Century of the Boscombe and Pokesdown
Neighbourhood Plan. It is also contrary to paragraph 135 of the NPPF, which requires
developments to “create places... with a high standard of amenity for existing and future
users”.

Amenity for Future Occupiers

8.27

The proposal includes a mix of flats from 1 to 3 bedroom, with different intended bedspaces
for the flats. All of the flats meet the minimum space standards set out in the national
Technical Guidance and are in this respect therefore considered to be acceptable. The flats
from the first floor upwards have access to outside space by means of balconies or the roof
terrace. However, the ground floor flats do not benefit from direct access to outdoor space.
The outdoor space that is available is limited due to the footprint of the building and
therefore is unlikely to provide sufficient external amenity space. In addition the Urban
Design Officer has commented that we would expect to see patios for the ground floor flats
to provide easy access to outside space, this has not occurred. This is therefore considered
to have a harmful impact on the amenity of the future occupiers of the ground floor flats and
is therefore considered to be contrary to Policy CS41 — Quality Design of the Bournemouth
Local Plan and Policy BAP 7 — The quality of new homes of the Bournemouth and
Pokesdown Neighbourhood Plan (2019) which requires new residential units to provide
adequate amenity space.

Highway Safety and Parking

8.28

8.29

The proposed development site is located within a short walking distance of the local centre
of Pokesdown with access to shops and amenities including Pokesdown Rail Station, two
primary schools and leisure and recreation facilities at Kings Park. In accordance with BCP
Parking Standards (2021), the site is located within Parking Zone A. The site fronts
Christchurch Road (A35), a classified road and strategic bus route subject to a 30mph
speed limit with footways on both sides. On-street parking is available fronting the site
although double yellow line restrictions are in place a few metres to the west and single
yellow line restriction on the opposite side of the road, within the eastbound lane.

Christchurch Road is also designated as a County Distributor Road in the Bournemouth
District Wide Local Plan 2002 (BDWLP). To enhance traffic flow and safety on these routes,
it will be necessary to restrict parking, turning movements and development access. Saved
Policy 8.1 of the BDWLP seeks to permit development where it will not result in direct
access, parking or turning movements on these routes or, in the case of existing
developments, where the access arrangements will be improved.

Page 10 of 15

68



8.30

8.31

8.32

Given the sustainable location of the site, parking is not required for the flats. However, an
operational parking bay is required. This has been relocated following initial comments from
the Local Highway Authority. Slight alterations to the westernmost vehicular crossover may
be required to provide access to the operational parking bay, however this can be resolved
by planning condition and therefore is considered to be acceptable and in accordance with
saved Policy 8.1 of the Bournemouth District Wide Local Plan. This should also ensure
adequate pedestrian safety. Officers note the comments of objectors regarding pedestrian
safety of the development due to the increased footfall generated. The development would
link to the existing footway which crosses the railway and is slightly removed from the
highway. The footway then continues to the junction between Christchurch Road and
Seabourne Road. There are traffic light controlled crossing points providing access to
Pokesdown Railway Station. As such, the development is not considered to have a harmful
Impact on pedestrian safety.

Cycle parking is proposed, with a requirement of 69 resident spaces and 5 visitor spaces
being needed for the proposal. The applicant is proposing 3x Sheffield Stands (providing 6
spaces) for the visitor spaces. The Local Highway Authority consider that this is acceptable.
Cycle parking for the residents is provided by an integral cycle store with 68 spaces which
Is an arrangement that is compliant with the Parking SPD.

Given that the proposed development will result in a significant increase in the number of
non-car trips a contribution to mitigate the impact of the proposed development and to
Improve sustainable travel infrastructure, in this instance the construction of a primary cycle
route along Christchurch Road a financial contribution of £12,144.00 is required. As the
application is not supported, the applicant has not agreed to this and as such this forms a
reason to refuse the application.

Impact on neighbouring railway

8.33

Immediately to the south of the site is the south west main line railway and associated land.
Network Rail have been consulted on the proposal. They have provided comments about
the proposal. It is noted that the building would be more than 3m from Network Rail land
which is required to allow for access and maintenance of the proposed building without
needing to enter Network Rail land. There are a series of statutory requirements that the
applicant would need to comply with if the application were to be supported. Subject to
compliance with the Network Rail requirements the proposal is considered to be acceptable
in terms of the impact on the railway.

Heathland Mitigation

8.34

The site is within 5km of a designated Dorset Heathlands SPA (Special Protection Area)
and Ramsar Site, and part of the Dorset Heaths candidate SAC (Special Area of
Conservation) which covers the whole of Bournemouth. As such, the determination of any
application for an additional dwelling(s) resulting in increased population and domestic
animals should be undertaken with regard to the requirements of the Conservation of
Habitats and Species Regulations 2017. It is considered that an appropriate assessment
could not clearly demonstrate that there would not be an adverse effect on the integrity of
the sites, particularly its effect upon bird and reptile habitats within the SSSI. Therefore, as
of 17t January 2007 all applications received for additional residential accommodation
within the borough is subject to a financial contribution towards mitigation measures
towards the designated sites. A capital contribution is therefore required. There is a net gain

Page 11 of 15

69



of three houses; therefore the financial contribution is £10,592 (to be index linked), plus an
administration fee of £529.

8.35 A signed legal agreement would be required to secure this contribution but has not been
progressed in view of the recommendation to refuse.

Biodiversity

8.36 The NPPF at chapter 15 ‘conserving and enhancing the natural environment’ sets out government
views on minimising the impacts on biodiversity, providing net gains where possible and contributing
to halt the overall decline in biodiversity. The Local Plan Policy CS35 — Natural and Geological
Conservation Interests sets out policy requirements for the protection and where possible, a
net gainin biodiversity. In addition, a 10% biodiversity net gain (BNG) is required as per the
Environment Act 2021 though exemptions apply. This proposal is exempt as it was received
prior to the implementation of the Act. The applicant is proposing a number of biodiversity
enhancements including 1 x swift box, 2 x sparrow terraces and 3 x bat tubes and a sedum
roof which are considered to be acceptable.

Affordable Housing Provision

8.37 The proposal is expected to provide policy compliant affordable housing in accordance with
the Bournemouth Affordable Housing Development Plan Document which sets the
requirement at 40%. The applicant has provided evidence that the scheme would not be
viable for the development if affordable housing is provided. The District Valuer has not
provided confirmation of whether this is the case. As the application is not being supported
this has not been explored further.

Housing Mix

8.38 The proposed development would replace the existing flats with a building that has a
greater scale and a larger footprint. The new building would replace the 14 existing flats
with up to 46 apartments, with the following mix:

e 26X 1 bedroom
e 16 x 2 bedroom
e 4 x 3 bedroom

The Boscombe and Pokesdown Neighbourhood Plan policy BAP6 requires 50% of the
housing mix of new development to provide 3 bedrooms unless itis demonstrated that this

is not viable. The development fails to do so, however, as the application is to be refused on
other grounds this has not been explored further.

Bin Storage

8.39 The proposal initially included a bin store that be underground, supported by a crane lift.
These would have been external and would not have sat comfortably within the street
scene. These have been replaced with internal bin stores that are considered to be more
appropriate. The bin store is less than 10m from the highway.

Other Issues

Page 12 of 15

70



8.40

It is noted that some members of the public are concerned regarding the publicity of the
application. The application has been publicised by a site notice displayed on 9t February
2024 and a press notice, in accordance with the Development Management Procedure
Order.

Planning Balance

8.41

8.42

8.43

The Council is currently not in a position to demonstrate a 5-year housing supply. This
means that Paragraph 11 of the NPPF applies, and the balance is tilted in favour of
sustainable development to grant planning permission except where the benefits are
significantly and demonstrably outweighed by the adverse impacts or where specific
policies in the NPPF provide a strong reason for refusal.

The proposed scheme would contribute to the need for new housing, delivering 46
additional homes within a sustainable location. However, as detailed above, the proposed
development is considered to have a harmful impact on the character and appearance of
the area, does not provide affordable housing or a policy compliant housing mix. In addition,
it has a harmful impact on the amenity of neighbouring occupants and future occupiers of
the flats. These are considered to constitute strong reasons for refusal.

In applying significant weight to the provision of additional housing, in the instance where
the Council cannot demonstrate a 5-year supply of housing, it is considered that the
adverse impacts of the proposal would significantly and demonstrably outweigh the

benefits. While the proposals would deliver new housing, they would cause significant and
demonstrable harm as outlined above. Therefore, in accordance with paragraph 11d (ii) of
the NPPF, the proposal should not be supported. In addition, as set out in the report, the
proposal is not considered to be in accordance with the Development Plan when reads as a
whole. The Development Plan Policies considered in reaching this decision are set out
throughout this report.

Summary

8.44

It is considered that the proposal would result in significant and demonstrable harm to the
character of the area, the amenity of neighbouring residents and future occupiers. The
application is therefore recommended for refusal.

Recommendation

REFUSE planning permission for the following reasons:

1. The proposal, by virtue of the height, scale and massing of the building will have a harmful

impact on the character of the area. The proposal is therefore contrary to Policy CS41 of
the Bournemouth Local Plan Core Strategy (2012) and Policy BAP1 of the Boscombe and
Pokesdown Neighbourhood Plan, as well as paragraph 135 of the NPPF (2024).

The proposal, by virtue of the height, scale and massing of the building will have a harmful
impact on the amenity of the residents of 951, 968 and 974 Christchurch Road, by
introducing a sense of enclosure to 951 and appearing overbearing on all three of the
neighbouring residential properties. The proposal is therefore contrary to Policy CS41 of the
Bournemouth Local Plan Core Strategy (2012) and Policy BAP1 of the Boscombe and
Pokesdown Neighbourhood Plan, as well as paragraph 135 of the NPPF (2024).

Page 13 of 15

71



3. The proposal, by virtue of failing to provide any external amenity space to the occupiers of
the ground floor flats, will have a harmful impact on the amenity of the future residents. This
is contrary to Policy CS41 of the Bournemouth Local Plan Core Strategy (2012) and Policy
BAP1 of the Boscombe and Pokesdown Neighbourhood Plan, as well as paragraph 135 of
the NPPF (2024).

4. The proposal fails to provide policy compliant affordable housing without providing
justification that is agreed by the Council and therefore is contrary to Bournemouth
Affordable Housing DPD and paragraph 64 of the NPPF (2024).

5. The proposal fails to provide a financial contribution towards sustainable transport to
mitigate the impact of the development. The proposal is therefore contrary to Policy CS18
of the Bournemouth Local Plan Core Strategy (2012) and paragraph 115 of the NPPF
(2024).

6. The site lies between 400m and 5km of Dorset heathlands which are protected under
European legislation for their wildlife importance. The Dorset Heathlands Planning
Framework Supplementary Planning Document (SPD) 2020-2025 sets out the means by
which the cumulative impacts of additional residential development in this zone can be
mitigated. In this instance the proposal fails to secure the mitigation measures identified as
necessary in the SPD such that it would be contrary to policy CS33 of the Bournemouth
Local Plan Core Strategy (2012) and the provisions of the National Planning Policy
Framework (2024).

Informative Notes

1. In the case of an appeal or any resubmission the applicant is advised that reason 6 could
be overcome by the submission of a completed legal agreement securing the Strategic
Access, Management and Monitoring contribution in accordance with the Dorset
Heathlands SPD 2020-2025. Reason 5 could be overcome by providing an agreed financial
contribution towards sustainable transport. Reason 4 could be overcome by demonstrating
that affordable housing could not be provided due to the viability of the proposal.

2. Forthe avoidance of doubt the decision on the application hereby determined was made
having regard to the following plans:

PT212 PA01 001 Rev A Location Plan and Block Plan

PT212 PA01 002 Rev C Proposed Ground and First Floor Plan
PT212 PA01 003 Rev B Proposed Second and Third Floor Plan
PT212 PA01 004 Rev B Proposed Fourth and Fifth Floor Plan
PT212 PA01 005 Rev B Proposed Sixth and Roof Plan

PT212 PA01 006 Rev B Proposed Elevations Sheet 1 of 2
PT212 PA01 007 Rev B Proposed Elevations Sheet 2 of 2

3. In accordance with paragraph 39 of the revised NPPF the Council, as Local Planning
Authority, takes a positive and proactive approach to development proposals focused on
solutions. The Council works with applicants/agents in a positive and proactive manner by
offering a pre-application advice service, and as appropriate updating applicants/agents of
any issues that may arise in the processing of their application and where possible
suggesting solutions.

Page 14 of 15

72



The applicant was advised that the proposal did not accord with the development plan and
that the material planning considerations were not sufficient to outweigh these problems.

4. The development proposal is liable to a Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) charge but a
liability notice will not be issued as the application is being refused planning permission.

5. The effect of paragraph 13 of Schedule 7A to the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 is
that planning permission granted for the development of land in England is deemed to have
been granted subject to the condition (“the biodiversity gain condition”) that development
may not begin unless: (a) a Biodiversity Gain Plan has been submitted to the planning
authority, and (b) the planning authority has approved the plan. The planning authority, for
the purposes of determining whether to approve a Biodiversity Gain Plan if one is required
in respect of this permission would be Bournemouth, Christchurch and Poole Council.
There are statutory exemptions and transitional arrangements which mean that the
biodiversity gain condition does not always apply. These are listed in paragraph 17 of
Schedule 7A of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 and the Biodiversity Gain
Requirements (Exemptions) Regulations 2024.

Based on the information available this application is considered to be one which will not
require the approval of a biodiversity gain plan before development is begun because one
of the statutory exemptions or transitional arrangements listed are considered to apply,
namely the application was registered prior to arrangements taking force.

Background Documents:

Documents uploaded to that part of the Council's website that is publicly accessible and
specifically relates to the application the subject of this report including all related
consultation responses, representations and documents submitted by the applicant in
respect of the application.

Notes.

This excludes all documents which are considered to contain exempt information for the
purposes of Schedule 12A Local Government Act 1972.

Reference to published works is not included.

Page 15 of 15

73



This page is intentionally left blank

74



uo 010V Z121d *20UBPUOGSBLI0D USIIM Ul O} PSLISIS) [0U JO JSUIBUM JUSISSIBD S[0S S50UDING D JO 110 AUD LU0} 10U SSOP PUD AJUO 5N UOJIINISUOD JO) §i BUIMOID SIUL “UOISiAS) BUIMOID 15810] U} OF BUBOM 310 ABU DU} SINSUS PINCLS JOJIDIUOD BU YoM BUIDUSLUWIOD O} I0lid "SBUIMDIP JOUs BUBDW JO PUDY U iom Buyind 810480 Auodwiod WODIOMOJSWIT MMM 1M | WO Jomojowlideuosyoninod i3 1 14551420210 L
434 QvD U} 0} PAYOU SAIPUDASIOSP PUD SIOJIDIUOD AQ PAYISA 8] O} 21D SUOSUBLUIP [ “PeyIo8ds SSBIUN SUOISUBLUID [DINIINLS S0 SUOISUSIP PRINBL "AJUO SUCISUBWIP PaINGI 51 “8[035 OU OQ “UoISSILISd UalLim 18U} JNoUlm PaIB|io Jo peanpoidel ‘paIdod 8q joU PINCUS PUD P Sa1LBd0Id 18MOJBLLIId 10 JYBIAGED BUj 5| BUIMDIP SIUL A10 7 L Hg 195100 9004 PPOY YHON 8904 310d |

Buiuupid :$NLVLS 00G:1 ‘05Tl 1 :eV® SIIVOS Q _)_O.h @ \AH&—@QOL&
v 100~ LOVd ™ ZiZld URld 320 PUL UR]d UOHDOOT yinowsuinog poy Yaunyoisuyd /¥4 o0pug ey]

Jamojauwlid

A3 YIFGNNN ONIMVEA JILIL ONIMYEA 103rodd

00G:1
ue|d Xo0|g9

1 ———

75

0scl-L
ue|d uoneoo

15926

FOIETTS

10626 m

€¢/11/80 anss| Buuuo|d v
7 ajog 7 uolduosaqg | uolsiASy




This page is intentionally left blank

76



ST v o

] 900" LOVd " 2lZld Buueid | 1V

A MIENINN ONIMVD snuvis | 3218 | L@ satvos

2 10 | Jeays suoypasjg pasodolyd

By

sjuswipdy juswaon|day
yinowsuinog pooy YaInydsuyDd /¥4 obpug syl

103rovd

1£6812 20210 X0} 1551 Z0Z 1019 K10 7 1H8 195100 “8100d ‘PO YHON ‘9901 40d |

dnoig Auedoly HER
EEE

Jamojawild yyy

T T T T WS: 308

3J2UQ %00Id] YJOOWS SNUSAY
JeBlaquauis M

U HINW Py Asjusy
JEIGIETNETTEYVY

0DUDIg PSOWS WNIOH
JoBloquoulsm

BusIN0D JBIPIOS
0UDIg PSYOWS LNIO4
JeBlaqIaus M

6108 vy
O} SHOM[R}SW PUP PIOSPS WNIUIWNY

vz/sorzL SUBWILIOD SIILO BUIMOIIO SUCISIASY P
£2/11/80 8nss| Buuold v
va NOILINOSIA | NOISIAZY

10 SUOISUBWID DAINBLY ALO SUOSUBWIP PAIBY 85N ‘B0 10U 0
10 paaNpoIC) PEIdOR 3G ou PINoLs PUD. o

0041
(1e0y) UonEAS|T AEMjiey

uno esty 01 1B

N

LT e

[ITTLE

)
[T

L
A

l TN

00L:}
(yuoi1) uonens|3 peoy yaINyRISUYD

&8

N~
N~



This page is intentionally left blank

78



<] 200" LOVd " ZlZld Buueid | 1V

A MIENINN ONIMVD snuvis | 3218 | L@ satvos

2 10 7 }e3ys suoypas|g pasodolyd

By

sjuswipdy juswaon|day
yinowsuinog pooy YaInydsuyDd /¥4 obpug syl

103rovd

1£6812 20210 X0} 1551 Z0Z 1019 K10 7 1H8 195100 “8100d ‘PO YHON ‘9901 40d |

dnoig Auedoly HER

Jomojouwiid 95

T T postawos
3

3J2UQ %00Id] YJOOWS SNUSAY
JeBlaquauis M

U HINW Py Asjusy
JEIGIETNETTEYVY
00L:4 00L:}4
(Kemyiey) uonens3 opis (18017010} UIG) UONEABIT BPIS

0DUDIg PSOWS WNIOH
JoBloquoulsm

BusIN0D JBIPIOS
0UDIg PSYOWS LNIO4
PEISIETTETEYYY

6108 vy
O} SHOM[R}SW PUP PIOSPS WNIUIWNY

~—
~

S s el e

N

~

vz/sorzL SUBWILIOD SIILO BUIMOIIO SUCISIASY P

£2/11/80 8nss| Buuold v

ava NOWdIOSIA | NOISIAZY

‘SoUspUOCsaL00

120U A Paiien aq of P
10 SUOISUBWID DAINBIY AL SUSUBWIP PAINBY 51 1035 10U OC UOKSILD Uo)
10 paaNpoIC) PEIdOR 3G ou PINoLs PUD. o

184} 170U POIRID




This page is intentionally left blank

80



ST v o

5 | 2Z00” Lovd ~ ZiZLd owasng | 1v | oot

A MIENINN ONIMVD snuvis | 3218 | L@ satvos

POOY Y2INY24SIYD

JOO|4 punois) pasodold

559050
aPoko )
uousapad

maN

DML PBI LIL00s IOAIOUA D) UWALO0 IoAIoUA ) WLODE

e BiecHe e
Aé G ) /\ k- e
X 2

bort
il I; 1 o
m sl
2 WO

SIOOH §Sii4 PUD PUNOIS) Pasodoid %&WJ 2LV

By

Auzbopsson
e s
B opy

P;
|
_d
1

sjuswipdy juswaon|day
yinowsuinog pooy YaInydsuyDd /¥4 obpug syl

103rovd

1£6812 20210 X0} 1551 Z0Z 1078 A70 7 HE 185100 "8100d ‘PDOM HON 89D1d 410 |

BuiA3;
1

T

dnoig Auedoly HER

@

woouyog

Jomojouwiid 95

‘sjuswialnbal 1 g
MB3U {83W O} PUD ‘s}aBID} S|qPMBUSI %01 V1 Yiim A|dwod

0} [dHv3) dwind jpeH IV §snoyxg Joopul 3 IPINPOW,
S «w M M w T WS_., 308 SUON|OS BUIDSH SINOF UM Py 84 O} sjuawpody
SO[qOMIUSY
papinoid sou) 0001 | = SUIq 8j2AD91 81 001 1X0L
£1ON 35N LON SI00 ONRIEWNN LV ION Jsvald PoPO/d 2 0968 = suiq Sisom o,eusb it
; 55999Y 10§
o1l | wsedy | peiz oo s o IR
yUes 1 uosiadz pag | 100k U ord paunbal sau| 0r0L | = Uoisiroid 8|oAdal a1l OFZX9y
s z Gosea [ P P painbai sauy)| 0878 = BISOM [D1eusb a1y 08 |X9¥
w62 ; Godt | perz oo s i S{USWBINDSY S5njSy
051z ; Comedy | pere ot \popIoId 55505 AIBAISG
B ; Comedy | perc
“o ! voned | sl Hun/d |0 ® papiroid s800ds JoyisiA 9
2Ty | Uosed | pog | papiroid soonds g9 y
9665 i uosied 7 pag | woolpag/d | @ palinbal saonds g9 '
9655 | uosiad 7 o | o4 SBPAD P f Mllel _ Nd| U r--femmmmeee o - H&H
9605 ' pag | 2] 0% :ma_m q}o
051z | (13 564 Wy /'889¢ \ —_—
) : v B vio
w2 I osed | | peat Vel
o T | wowear | peat ooty iros e pogexe
pegTx /L
9665 | woseaz | peat 001 oy 2] G 1 X 92
9665 | woseaz | pedl N
966 | Goseaz | pent
051z | Gosedy | pesz )
el | osedy | pesz o
e | wosed || pedt 2
%t | wosed | | pedl B2
109 z wosed v PoEE S2d
9665 . woedz | pent vt
9605 | woedz | pent o0t pauL B
051 | Cosedy | peic ootz oAl =
sreL | Cosesy | peic oot puoo%s T
sovy | uosiad | pog | ool pucoss o
SOvY. L wosiad | P38 L ooy puodas
HEBL T uosiad P3gE Jooy puodas
005 L uosiad 7 P38 L Jooy puodas
75 L uosiad 7 Pag L Joog puodas
5V L uosiad P38z Joog puodas
€612 L uosiad PaEZ
e . wsea | | peat
= | wosed | | peat
052 % Gommdy | petc
9665 | Gesmaz | peat
9565 | Gosmaz | peat Jopuioo
051z | =TT
960 | wosedz | pest oot pUnoiS
o1z ; Comedy | pere oot puto S0t _
X0 ; Comedy | perc oot pUTIS o4 5] vowe
057 ' wosed | | peat oot pUToIS )
) I wosed | peez oot pUnoiS N
557 | osed || pat oot punom o1
Zuvion/o | swoonyos| sevpdspey | swoomen ) o
¥2/01/01 SIUSWIUIO SADMUBIY BUMOJO} PSPUSWID INOAD] BUBIDD SPAD 5
vz/sorzL SUBWILIOD SIILO BUIMOIIO SUCISIASY P
£2/11/80 8nss| Buuold v %
va NOILINOSIA | NOISIAZY
10 suosUBWIP POy A0 SUoS
10 poNpoIdal Pardos 56 1o PINOLS puD o




This page is intentionally left blank

82



T v o

a | £00° Lovd " ZiZLld owasng | 1v | oot

A MIENINN ONIMVD snuvis | 3218 | L@ satvos

SI004 PAYL PUD pUoDas pasodolyd

By

sjuswipdy jusweaon|day
yinowauinog pooy YaInydsuyDd /¥4 obpug syl

103rovd

1£6812 20210 X0} 1551 Z0Z 1078 A70 7 HE 185100 "8100d ‘PDOM HON “89D1d 410 |

dnoig Auedoly HER

Jomojouwiid 95

T T T T T posamos

€1°ON 3SN LON $30d ONI¥FaWNN 1V ILON 3Sv31d

s | Gosedy | pesc oo ups i
3 | Gowedz | pesl oot oS
1625 B oseds | pesc oo s e
| Goseac | pesc oo ups v
! Goseay | peac oo ups £
! Goseay | peac ]
wer | osea | oo 1 173
wer | osea | oo 1 or
9505 ' wosedz | pesl 2]
9605 | oag | )
9605 | pag | )
o512 | ZH )
el | =1 sed
w2 | =D ved
w5t | osea | pog | o6
9555 ' wosedz | pesl 2]
9655 | wosedz | pesl 164
9655 | wosedz | pesl )
o5z | wosedy | peac ]
svel | wosedy | peac i
e | Gosed | pos | 2
%t | osea | pos | B2
109 3 vovedy | pest ol
5655 | woedz | pest vt
5658 | wosedc | eest oo pauL w
[0 | vovedy | peac so0 pauL i
el ! wosedy | poac ool pucaas o
sovy | uosiad | pog | ook puooas. oz
sovy | uosied | pog | ook puodas. mn
sl Z wosedy | peat ool puosas o1
s T Gosedz | pesl ool puoses u
s | osedz | pest oot puosas e
=2 ! wosedy | peaz Joot puosas S
w61 | wosedy | peaz i
e [ Gosea | bos 1 E
=7 | Gosed | pos 1 1
09 B wosedy | pese o
9655 [ uosiad 7 pog |
| uosedz | pag
| wowedy | peac
| wosedz | pest ook puno e
! wosedy | pesc oot punois B
! Goseay | peac oot punois
| osea | oo 1 oot puto
i | woseds | peac oot puno
557 ' Gosea | oag | oot punom
Zuvioo/o |swoomog| s9o0dspog | swooiog ore
y2/90/Z1 SJUBLULIOD SI9DILJO BUIMOIO} SUOISIASY g
£2/11/80 8nss| Buuold v
ava NOUJINDSIA | NOISIAZY

10 SUOISUBWID DAINBIY “ALO SUSUSWID PAINB) 51 31035 10U Gl “UOSSILS UG UL N0V DBIBHD.

10 paaNpoIC) PEIdOR 3G ou PINoLs PUD. o

100|4 PUOD8S Pasodoid

1004 pAIYy] pasodold

a

ey

o [T

1opHoD

83



This page is intentionally left blank

84



T v o

a | ¥00” Lovd " ZizLd owasng | 1v | oot

A MIENINN ONIMVD snuvis | 3218 | L@ satvos

SI00|4 Uijl4 PUD ypno4 pasodold

By

sjuswipdy jusweaon|day
yinowauinog pooy YaInydsuyDd /¥4 obpug syl

103rovd

1£6812 20210 X0} 1551 Z0Z 1078 A70 7 HE 185100 "8100d ‘PDOM HON “89D1d 410 |

dnoig Auedoly HER

Jomojouwiid 95

T T T T T posamos

€1°ON 3SN LON $30d ONI¥FaWNN 1V ILON 3Sv31d

s | Gosedy | pesc oo ups i
3 | Gowedz | pesl oot oS
1625 B oseds | pesc oo s e
| Goseac | pesc oo ups v
! Goseay | peac oo ups £
! Goseay | peac ]
wer | osea | oo 1 173
wer | osea | oo 1 or
9505 ' wosedz | pesl 2]
9605 | oag | )
9605 | pag | )
o512 | ZH )
el | =1 sed
w2 | =D ved
w5t | osea | pog | o6
9555 ' wosedz | pesl 2]
9655 | wosedz | pesl 164
9655 | wosedz | pesl )
o5z | wosedy | peac ]
svel | wosedy | peac i
e | Gosed | pos | 2
%t | osea | pos | B2
109 3 vovedy | pest ol
5655 | woedz | pest vt
5658 | wosedc | eest oo pauL w
[0 | vovedy | peac so0 pauL i
el ! wosedy | poac ool pucaas o
sovy | uosiad | pog | ook puooas. oz
sovy | uosied | pog | ook puodas. mn
sl Z wosedy | peat ool puosas o1
s T Gosedz | pesl ool puoses u
s | osedz | pest oot puosas e
=2 ! wosedy | peaz Joot puosas S
w61 | wosedy | peaz i
e [ Gosea | bos 1 E
=7 | Gosed | pos 1 1
09 B wosedy | pese o
9655 [ uosiad 7 pog |
| uosedz | pag
| wowedy | peac
| wosedz | pest ook puno e
! wosedy | pesc oot punois B
! Goseay | peac oot punois
| osea | oo 1 oot puto
i | woseds | peac oot puno
557 ' Gosea | oag | oot punom
Zuvioo/o |swoomog| s9o0dspog | swooiog ore
y2/90/Z1 SJUBLULIOD SI9DILJO BUIMOIO} SUOISIASY g
£2/11/80 8nss| Buuold v
ava NOUJINDSIA | NOISIAZY

10 SUOISUBWID DAINBIY “ALO SUSUSWID PAINB) 51 31035 10U Gl “UOSSILS UG UL N0V DBIBHD.
10 paaNpoIC) PEIdOR 3G ou PINoLs PUD. o

JOOJ4 ypno4 pasodold

a

1opHoD

100}4 yyi4 pesodoud

[l M

(|
o]

oo

85




This page is intentionally left blank

86



ST v o

a | 5007 Lovd " ZiZLld owasng | 1v | oot

A MIENINN ONIMVD snuvis | 3218 | L@ satvos

1004 YixIS pasodoud

100}4 JOOY PUD YyXIS pPasodold

By

sjuswipdy juswaon|day
yinowsuinog pooy YaInydsuyDd /¥4 obpug syl

103rovd

1£6812 20210 X0} 1551 Z0Z 1019 K10 7 1H8 195100 “8100d ‘PO YHON ‘9901 40d |

dnoig Auedoly HER

Jomojouwiid 95

T T T T T Powawos
wt 5 H v : }
£I"ON 35N LON S30Q ONREFFANN Lyl ILON ISvaTd
i T sy | e g =
vres | uosied g =T 1001 U B
1629 7 [r=p sz ook 4 - %
65 T e | e o ] =
i T ey | e B
el T ey | e
o T e [
Joon uesio
o T [ e
e T e | e
e T ez | eent Bl
T T = a%
I ; Ex e
9TEL I pagz SEd mw
o T et | pemt = | |
o T vt | ent oo o El
e T oz | pemt oo o
e T vz | emt oo o
e T oz | pent oo o
E T oy | perz g
o T e = upld Jooy pasodoid
o T woment | et =
262 [ osed | =T Jo0l pauL 524 aeg ! L
ool T ey | per oo oral B
e T woee | pemt e P
s6ts | Gosed =T o013 pauL 2] %&mﬁ
e e e 8§
SreL T Gosd p = 100l pucoas e %
== Se %
T T o e So Ok
w6l z Gosied = L0l pucoss joon ool * 100y uaRID Jood jop
e T T L o8 $o
w255 L uosied Z Pag L oo pucoas %
= T sy | e oo L 3 T mwmw
S I BT Bow &
w7 [ osea 1 =T & Lo
o | Gomea | pos ( o sebor] | %
E Ty [ e D oy ssaoy R nor D I @W
9685 i uosisd 7 pog 1 Jooy 1
9655 ' uosiad 7 o | - — — — | I
o ! A . _
T T i I
X3 t uosied ¢ peET JOGH PUNoID 04 |
wer T e | e omenon Bl ooy vo210 !
L L uossiad £ pgz Joo pUnoID 04 !
Tuvioio [siconea] sesodrpes | soomen o o ! (<]
o ¥ 4 [
|
! mojeg
| joon vosi0
|
|
1 |
! _ &
Lomm oo 3
>
_ —
#*
e P ———— . ﬁw mwww
2/11/20 5055 BuILUOl v % oats it ko
ava NOILdIIOS3a NOISIAZY

10 SUOISUBWID DAINBLY ALO SUOSUBWIP PAIBY 85N ‘B0 10U 0 ad Ua i J5Ul 170U D3RO

10 paaNpoIC) PEIdOR 3G ou PINoLs PUD. o

87



This page is intentionally left blank

88



Agenda ltem 8c

BCP

Council

Planning Committee

Application Address 44 Minterne Road Christchurch BH23 3LE

Bungalow re-modelling. Demolish Garage, erect side & rear
extensions, enlarge roof to form first floor accommodation.

Proposal

Application Number P/25/00365/HOU

Applicant Mr M Lydka

Agent Mr Jeremy Isaacs

Ward and Ward Mudeford, Stanpit & West Highcliffe
Member(s) Clir Lesley Dedman and Clir Paul Hilliard
Report status Public

Meeting date 8" May 2025

Summary of

Recommendation Refuse for the reason(s) set out below

Reason for Referral to Applicant is a direct family member (spouse) of an Officer

Planning Committee working within the planning section.

Case Officer Charlotte Haines

Is the Proposal EIA

Development? No

Description of Proposal

1. This application seeks permission for the erection of a two-storey side extension and a
single storey rear extension following the demolition of the existing detached garage and the
enlargement of the roof to create first floor accommodation.

2. This application follows a previous refused scheme for the same development. The
application was refused for the following reasons: -

It is considered that the proposed two storey flat roof side extension, by reason of its
scale, mass, bulk and design is not considered to respect the scale or character of
the resultant enlarged dwelling and would not appear as a subordinate addition to the
dwelling. Overall, the scheme is a poor design which disregards the prevailing form,

89



appearance and character of the host property and surrounding area. The scheme
fails to be compatible with or improve its surroundings in its architectural style, scale,
bulk and visual impact. As such the development is contrary to Policy HE2 of the
Christchurch and East Dorset Local Plan, Part 1 Core Strategy 2014, saved Policy
H12 of the Borough of Christchurch Local Plan 2001 and Section 12 of the National
Planning Policy Framework 2024.

The proposed two storey flat roof side extensionwould be sited approximately 1.5m
from the side elevation of no. 46 where there are windows serving habitable rooms.
The proposed extension would measure 6.2m in height and would have a depth of
7m. This increase in height coupled with the depth and proximity to the neighbour
would significantly reduce the levels of light entering these habitable rooms and
would also have an overbearing impact on this neighbour. The proposal fails to be
compatible with or improves its surroundings in its relationship to nearby properties
including minimising general disturbance to amenity. As such the proposal is
considered contrary to Policy HE2 of the Christchurch and East Dorset Core Strategy
adopted 2014 Policy H12 of the Borough of Christchurch Local Plan and the NPPF.

3. This application proposes a revised design to the 2-storey side extension. The main
changes are as follows: -

Ridge height of the 2-storey side extension reduced from 6.2m to 6.1m (a reduction
of 0.1m)

Eaves height of the 2-storey side extension reduced by from 4.9m to 4m (a reduction
of 0.9m)

4. These applications follow an earlier grant of planning permission for the erection of a single
storey rear and side extension following the demolition of the existing detached garage and
the enlargement of the roof to create first floor accommodation.

Description of Site and Surroundings

5. The application site lies within a cul de sac within the residential area of Stanpit. The
surrounding area is characterised by a mix of two storey houses and bungalows. Minterne
Road is characterised by predominantly detached single storey bungalows and chalet
bungalows. These bungalows are varied in terms of scale, design, style and massing.

6. The application site consists of a hipped roof bungalow and is typical of the surrounding
development in the road. The dwelling is set back in its plot with off-road parking.

7. The application site partly falls within future high risk flood zone 3a (2133).

Relevant Planning History

Demolition of existing

44 Minterne Road garage. Erection of 2
storey side extension,

8/24/0720/HOU Christchurch single storey rear Refused 20/02/25
extension & creation
BH23 3LE of 1st floor
accommodation
44 Minterne Road Alterations and
remodel of the
8/24/0318/HOU Christchurch existing dwelling Granted 30/09/24

inclusive of demolition

90




10.

BH23 3LE of the existing garage,
single storey rear and
side extension and
creation of first floor
accommodation.

46 Minterne Road
Single storey rear

8/21/0813/HOU Christchurch extension. Granted 11/11/21
BH23 3LE
Create gable ends
and insert dormer
window to side to
. create
8/13/0344 40 Minterne Road Granted 28/08/13

accommodation in the
roofspace. Erection
of single storey
extension to rear
Construct pitched roof
8/06/0328 44 Minterne Road over existing flat roof Granted 14/08/06
extension to rear
Erection of single
storey pitched roof
8/03/0075 44 Minterne Road extension and Granted 25/03/03
replacement garage
with pitched roof
Single-storey rear
extension with pitched
roof above. Erection
of detached garage to
rear following
demolition of existing.

8/01/0346 44 Minterne Road Granted 31/07/01

Constraints

8. Future Flood Zone 3a (Year 2133)

Public Sector Equalities Duty

9. In accordance with section 149 Equality Act 2010, in considering this proposal due regard
has been had to the need to —

o eliminate discrimination, harassment, victimisation and any other conduct that is
prohibited by or under this Act;

o advance equality of opportunity between persons who share a relevant protected
characteristic and persons who do not share it;

o foster good relations between persons who share a relevant protected characteristic
and persons who do not share it.

Other relevant duties

In accordance with regulation 9(3) of the Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations
2017 (as amended) (“the Habitat Regulations), for the purposes of this application,
appropriate regard has been had to the relevant Directives (as defined in the Habitats
Regulations) in so far as they may be affected by the determination.

91



11.

12.

13.

14.

15.

16.

17.

18.

With regard to sections 28G and 28I (where relevant) of the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981,
to the extent consistent with the proper exercise of the function of determining this application
and that this application is likely to affect the flora, fauna or geological or physiographical
features by reason of which a site is of special scientific interest, the duty to take reasonable
steps to further the conservation and enhancement of the flora, fauna or geological or
physiographical features by reason of which the site is of special scientific interest.

For the purposes of section 40 Natural Environment and Rural Communities Act 2006, in
assessing this application, consideration has been given as to any appropriate action to further
the “general biodiversity objective”.

For the purposes of this application, in accordance with section 2 Self-build and Custom
Housebuilding Act 2015, regard has been had to the register that the Council maintains of
individuals and associations of individuals who are seeking to acquire serviced plots in the
Council’s area for their own self-build and custom housebuilding.

For the purposes of this application, in accordance with section 17 Crime and Disorder Act 1998,
due regard has been had to, including the need to do all that can reasonably be done to prevent,
(a) crime and disorder in its area (including anti-social and other behaviour adversely affecting
the local environment); (b) the misuse of drugs, alcohol and other substances in its area; and

(c) re-offending in its area.

For the purposes of this report regard has been had to the Human Rights Act 1998, the Human
Rights Convention and relevant related issues of proportionality.

Consultations

Christchurch Town Council — No comments have been received.

Representations

1 objection has been received from the adjacent neighbour in which the following summarised
concerns were raised:

o Having reviewed the revised plans, they remain concerned that the proposal will
have an overbearing impact on their home.

o The proximity and height of the proposed building will significantly reduce the
natural light entering their property.

o The proposed building is 68cm from their boundary and only minor changes
made to the heigh of the building, do not feel the revised design adequately
addresses the issue.

o Proposed extension will substantially diminish the daylight we receive forcing
them to rely more heavily on artificial light and negatively affecting their living
conditions.

o Do no consider the changes are substantial enough to address he issue.

Key Issue(s)
The key issues involved with this proposal are:

The impact upon the character of the area
The impact on neighbours’ living conditions
Flood Risk

Parking and Highway Safety

These issues will be considered along with other matters relevant to this proposal below.

92



Policy Context

19. Section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 states that planning
applications must be determined in accordance with the development plan for an area, except
where material considerations indicate otherwise. The development plan in this case comprises
the Christchurch and East Dorset Local Plan Part 1 — Core Strategy 2014 and saved policies of
the Christchurch Local Plan 2001.

20. Christchurch and East Dorset Local Plan Part 1 - Core Strategy 2014

KS1 Presumption in favour of sustainable development
KS11 Transport and Development

KS12 Parking Provision

HE2 Design of new development

H12 Residential Infill

MEG6 Flood Management, Mitigation and Defence

21. Saved Policies of the Christchurch Local Plan 2001

H12: Residential Infill

22. National Planning Policy Framework (“NPPF” / "Framework”)

Including in particular the following:

Section 2 — Achieving Sustainable Development
Paragraph 11 —

“Plans and decisions should apply a presumption in favour of sustainable development.
For decision-taking this means:
(c) approving development proposals that accord with an up-to-date development
plan without delay; or
(d) where there are no relevant development plan policies, or the policies which are
most important for determining the application are out-of-date, granting permission
unless:
() the application of policies in this Framework that protect areas or assets of
particular importance provides a clear reason for refusing the development proposed;
or
(i) any adverse impacts of doing so would significantly and demonstrably outweigh
the benefits, when assessed against the policies of this Framework taken as a whole,
having particular regard to key policies for directing development to sustainable
locations, making effective use of land, securing well-designed places and providing
affordable homes, individually or in combination.”

Section 12 — Achieving well designed places

The requirement for good design set out in section 12; paragraph 135 requires that
developments should function well and add to the overall quality of the area, not just for
the short term but over the lifetime of the development. Development that is not well
designed, especially where it fails to reflect local design policies and government
guidance on design should be refused (para 139).

93



Section 14 - Meeting the challenge of climate change, flooding and coastal change

Paragraph 172 - All plans should apply a sequential, risk-based approach to the location
of development — taking into account all sources of flood risk and the current and future
impacts of climate change — so as to avoid, where possible, flood risk to people and
property. They should do this, and manage any residual risk, by:

a) applying the sequential test and then, if necessary, the exception test as set out below;

b) safeguarding land from development that is required, or likely to be required, for current
or future flood management;

¢) using opportunities provided by new development and improvements in green and
other infrastructure to reduce the causes and impacts of flooding, (making as much use
as possible of natural flood management techniques as part of an integrated approach to
flood risk management); and

d) where climate change is expected to increase flood risk so that some existing
development may not be sustainable in the long-term, seeking opportunities to relocate
development, including housing, to more sustainable locations.

Paragraph 181 advises that when determining any planning applications, local planning
authorities should ensure that flood risk is not increased elsewhere.

Where appropriate, applications should be supported by a site-specific flood-risk
assessment. Development should only be allowed in areas at risk of flooding where, in
the light of this assessment (and the sequential and exception tests, as applicable) it can
be demonstrated that:

a) within the site, the most vulnerable development is located in areas of lowest flood risk,
unless there are overriding reasons to prefer a different location;

b) the development is appropriately flood resistant and resilient such that, in the event of a
flood, it could be quickly brought back into use without significant refurbishment;

c) it incorporates sustainable drainage systems, unless there is clear evidence that this
would be inappropriate;

d) any residual risk can be safely managed; and

e) safe access and escape routes are included where appropriate, as part of an agreed
emergency plan.

Paragraph 176 states that applications for some minor development and changes of use
(footnote 60) should not be subject to the sequential or exception tests but should still
meet the requirements for site-specific flood risk assessments.

Footnote 62 - This includes householder development, small non-residential extensions
(with a footprint of less than 250m2) and changes of use; except for changes of use to a
caravan, camping or chalet site, or to a mobile home or park home site, where the
sequential and exception tests should be applied as appropriate.

Planning Assessment

The Impact upon the Character of the Area

23. Policy HE2 states that ‘the design of a development must be of a high quality, reflecting and
enhancing areas of recognised local distinctiveness’. The development must be compatible

94



24.

25.

26.

27.

28.

29.

30.

31.

32.

with or improve its surrounding in its layout; site coverage; architectural style; scale; bulk;
height; materials and visual impact.

Saved Policy H12 states that “proposals for private or institutional residential development,
on allocated and non-allocated sies, or extensions to residential premises will be permitted
provided that” they meet a number of criteria including “they are appropriate in character
scale design and materials on the immediate locality”.

The existing property is single storey and is lower in height than the neighbouring properties
on either side. Furthermore, the existing bungalow is smaller in size than the other
bungalows within the road.

This application is proposing the enlargement of the existing single storey bungalow to a
chalet style bungalow. The design has a symmetrical single gable that runs front to back of
the property. A proposal to enlarge the single storey bungalow to a chalet style bungalow
has already been approved. This approved also included a wrap around a single storey flat
roof rear/side extension.

The current proposal is a resubmission following the refusal of the previous scheme to
enlarge the property which included a two-storey side extension that had flat roof and a
small, hipped element. Both the current proposal and previously refused scheme proposed
a single storey flat roof rear extension of a similar design to that on the approved scheme.
The principal difference with the approved scheme was the introduction of a two-storey side
extension in place of the single storey side extension.

It was considered that the two-storey side extension would substantially increase the mass
and bulk of the overall dwelling so that it has the appearance of a larger two storey dwelling.

The current scheme retains this two-storey side extension albeit with minor changes
principally the slight reduction of the ridge height and a reduction in the eave’s height
resulting in an increased depth to the hipped element of the roof. Whilst the reduced eaves
height of the proposed two storey side extension would now be similar to those of the
enlarged dwelling, the proposal would be of a similar ridge height and with the same flat roof
design which results in a significantly enlarged dwelling that would contrast significantly with
the surrounding development which comprises a more modest single storey bungalows or
chalet bungalows with dormers.

The previously approved wraparound rear/side extension extended up to the side
boundaries leaving narrow gaps. Whilst it was accepted that a number of properties in the
road have substantially filled the plots, these typically comprise of the pitched roofs of the
bungalows with the lower eave’s height close to the boundary or the addition of single
storey side extensions extend up to the side boundary leaving narrow gaps. In contrast, the
proposal would introduce a two-storey largely flat roof extension which would have a ridge
height in excess of 6 metres which would be in close proximity with the boundary with
No.46.

The applicants’ agent has submitted with the current application a Design and Access
Statement in which it is argued that given the proposed side extension would be set back
approximately 5.3m from the front elevation and over 10m from the application site frontage,
the side extension is subservient to a main dwelling, it would not create terracing effect and
it would not be visible in much of the street scene.

However, the changes made to the design of the two-storey extension are modest and the
reasoning behind refusal reason 1 on the preceding application remains by reason of its

largely flat roof design which s inconsistent with the steep pitched gable roof of the chalet
bungalow. The revised proposal retains a small, hipped element which was introduced as

95



33.

part of the amended plans which were submitted during the course of the previously refused
application. Whilst this half-hipped roof element would reduce the height of the wall closes
to the neighbour, the front and rear elevations would comprise of a vertical rendered wall. It
is therefore considered that the proposed two storey extension would not be subservient to
the enlarged building introducing a bulky incongruous feature that would fail to have an
appropriate relationship to its plot and spacing within the road.

Despite the revisions made to the design of the two-storey side extension it is still
considered not subservient to the dwelling nor is it compatible to the character and form of
the existing properties within the road. It is therefore considered that this element of the
proposal would adversely affect the visual amenities of the area and falls contrary to policy
HE2 and saved policy H12.

Residential Amenity

34.

35.

36.

37.

38.

39.

40.

Local Plan Policy HE2 states that; ‘development will be permitted if it compatible with or
improves its surroundings in; its relationship to nearby properties including minimising
disturbance to amenity’. Saved policy H12 states that residential development should not
adversely affect residential amenities by noise or disturbance, or loss of light or privacy.

The previously approved scheme proposed first-floor accommodation development above
the existing footprint of the bungalow. The bungalow itself is set away from the boundary
with no.46 by approximately 5m. A 1.8 metres high close boarded fence is on the boundary
with No 46, that property is set back only 0.5 to 0.75 metres from the boundary.

The current scheme also proposes first-floor development above the existing footprint but
also extends over the proposed single storey side extension so as to enable three rather
than two bedrooms to be provided at first floor. This two-storey side extension would result
in first-floor development being brought closer to this neighbour. The previously refused
extension was approximately 0.6m from the boundary with this neighbour at its closest point
and 0.9m at its furthest point. The proposed two storey extension has been brought away
from the boundary by approximately 0.2m and as a result would now be 0.8m from the
boundary with this neighbour at its closest point. This change is very marginal and the
proposed extension would remain within 1m from the boundary with the neighbour.

The Design and Access Statement accompanying the application sets out the revisions
made to the proposed design of the two-storey side extension in order to address the
impact on No. 46, which are in summary:

* The height has been reduced by 0.2m
* The width has been reduced by 0.2m
* The eaves level has been lowered from 6.3m to 4m taken from the ground floor level.

Whilst the stated reduction in height and width are correct, it is incorrectin respect of the
eaves level which has only reduced from 4.9m to 4m.

The amended design retains a hipped roof element that was introduced as an amendment
during the course of the previously refused application.

Whilstit is acknowledged that the eaves height has been lowered, the proposed side
extension remains two-storey in height in close proximity to the southeast elevation of
No.46. It is noted that there are two obscure glazed windows on the side elevation of the
neighbouring bungalow (no 46) which serve as the sole windows to habitable rooms (dining
room and office). The proposed two storey extension would be approximately 1.3m from
these windows and is located to the southeast of these windows. Therefore, despite the
design changes made the proposed extension would still lead to significant overshadowing

96



41.

42.

43.

44.

45,

46.

47.

48.

which would diminish the levels of light entering these windows of these habitable rooms.
Given the close proximity of the proposed two storey extension coupled with the overall
height and depth and its location to the southeast, it would lead to a significant loss of
outlook and light to the habitable rooms of this neighbouring property.

As has been stated above, an objection has been received from the occupiers regarding the
impact on their property and to advise that the design changes made to the proposed
extension as part of this application do not address their concerns over loss of light to the
rooms in which the windows on this side elevation serve. These concerns were raised when
objecting to the previously refused application.

In the design and access statement, the agent lists a number of examples of side
extensions close to adjoining properties that have been allowed in the surrounding area.
However, each case must be assessed on its own merits and in this instance, it is the
presence of 2 habitable room windows on the south facing side elevation and close to the
boundary which differs from these examples given.

No windows are proposed on the side elevation of the extension and as a result there would
be no overlooking. There are windows on the front and rear elevations. This includes a full
height window on the rear elevation however this would have oblique views towards the
side elevation of the rear extension at No.46 where there is a window. The window would
have a Juliette balcony preventing it from becoming an opening onto the flat roof area over
the single storey rear extension. This would avoid any overlooking into neighbouring
properties. The front window would overlook the driveway and road beyond with oblique
views towards the side elevation of No.46 however there are no window openings forward
of the proposed two storey extension and as such the front window would not overlook any
habitable rooms of this neighbouring property.

The front facing gable would have a large first floor window proposed which will overlook the
road and as such would not result in a loss of privacy to any of the neighbouring properties.

The side facing rooflights on the southeast would serve a staircase/landing (a non-habitable
space) and as secondary openings to the bedrooms 1 and 2. The rooflights would face
towards a side facing dormer window at no.40. Had permission been recommended, this
would have been subject to a condition for these rooflights to be obscure glazed and non-
opening to prevent any overlooking.

It is therefore considered that proposed extensions to the dwelling would not give rise to an
unacceptable level of overlooking to the adjoining properties and as such would not lead to
loss of privacy to these neighbours.

Whilst revisions have been made in the current application to address the impact on No 46
these are very modest. It is therefore considered that the revised scheme fails to overcome
the adverse impacts on No 46. This impact arises from the extension’s height and distance
from the side elevation of No 46 which has two windows serving habitable rooms on it
southeastern elevation. As with the refused scheme to extension would lead to a loss of
light in the two rooms and would be overbearing. This will unacceptably impact on the
occupants of No 46 and as such the scheme is considered to be contrary to Policy HE2 not
being compatible with or improving its surroundings in its relationship to nearby properties
including minimising general disturbance to amenity.

Flood Risk

Local Plan Policy MEG6 states; ‘all developments (including redevelopments and extensions
which require planning permission) can be permitted within areas at risk of flooding they will

97



49.

50.

be required to incorporate appropriate flood resistance and resilience measures as a means
of "future proofing" against the effects of climate change.”

Both Policy ME6 and Paragraph 167 NPPF take a sequential approach to new
development. This proposal is considered to be ‘minor’ development in flood risk terms and
therefore the Sequential or Exception tests are not applicable to this proposal as setout in
paragraph 174 of the NPPF.

The application property is located within future flood zone 3a. Therefore, had permission
been recommended, this would have been subjectto a condition for the floor levels of the
extension to be the same as the existing dwelling and flood resistance and resilience
measures shall be incorporated as appropriate in accordance with the Environment
Agency's Standing Advice. On this basis, it is considered that the proposed development is
in accordance with policy MEG.

Parking and Access

51.

52.

53.

54.

Policies KS11 and KS12 refer to the design of development to provide safe and permeable
layouts and promoting all modes of transport alongside parking provision. This proposal
does not change the parking or access for this property.

The extensions would result in an increase in the number of bedrooms from 2 to 4 within the
dwelling. The site is within Zone B as set out in the Parking SPD and for a four-bedroom
property the requirement is for two parking spaces and secure storage for 4 bicycles (1 per
bedroom). The dwelling has a driveway and hardstanding to the front which provides ample
room for 2 parking spaces. Furthermore, there is a storage area shown on the proposed
ground floor plan where there is ample space to provide storage for 4 bicycles.

Therefore, it is considered the parking provision is acceptable and accords with Policy
KS12.

Other Matters

The application is for householder developer and as such is exempt from the Biodiversity
Net Gain requirement.

Planning Balance / Conclusion

55.

56.

Despite the revisions made to the design of the two-storey side extension it is still
considered not subservient to the dwelling nor is it compatible to the character and form of
the existing properties within the road. It is therefore considered that this element of the
proposal would adversely affect the visual amenities of the area and falls contrary to policy
HE2 and saved policy H12.

It is also considered that the revised scheme fails to overcome the adverse impacts on No
46. This impact arises from the extension’s height and distance from the side elevation of
No 46 which has two windows serving habitable rooms on it southeastern elevation. As
with the refused scheme to extension would lead to a loss of light in the two rooms and
would be overbearing. This will unacceptably impact on the occupants of No 46 and as such
the scheme is considered to be contrary to Policy HE2 not being compatible with or
improving its surroundings in its relationship to nearby properties including minimising
general disturbance to amenity.

98



Recommendation

Refuse, for the following reasons:

1.

1.

It is considered that the proposed two storey flat roof side extension, by reason of its scale,
mass, bulk and design is not considered to respect the scale or character of the resultant
enlarged dwelling and would not appear as a subordinate addition to the dwelling. Overall,
the scheme s a poor design which disregards the prevailing form, appearance and
character of the host property and surrounding area. The scheme fails to be compatible
with or improve its surroundings in its architectural style, scale, bulk and visual impact. As
such the development is contrary to Policy HE2 of the Christchurch and East Dorset Local
Plan, Part 1 Core Strategy 2014, saved Policy H12 of the Borough of Christchurch Local
Plan 2001 and Section 12 of the National Planning Policy Framework 2024.

The proposed two storey flat roof side extension would be sited approximately 1.5m from
the side elevation of no. 46 where there are windows serving habitable rooms. The
proposed extension would have a ridge height of 6.1m and an eaves height of 4.1m and
would have a depth of 7m. This increase in height coupled with the depth and proximity to
the neighbour would significantly reduce the levels of light entering these habitable rooms
and would also have an overbearing impact on this neighbour. The proposal fails to be
compatible with or improves its surroundings in its relationship to nearby properties
including minimising general disturbance to amenity. As such the proposal is considered
contrary to Policy HE2 of the Christchurch and East Dorset Core Strategy adopted 2014
Policy H12 of the Borough of Christchurch Local Plan and the NPPF

Informatives

In accordance with paragraph 39 of the revised NPPF the Council, as Local Planning
Authority, takes a positive, creative and proactive approach to development proposals
focused on solutions. The Council works with applicants/agents in a positive and proactive
manner by offering a pre-application advice service, and as appropriate updating
applicants/agents of any issues that may arise in the processing of their application and
where possible suggesting solutions. In this instance:

The applicant/ agent did not take the opportunity to enter into pre-application
discussions.

The applicant was advised that the proposal did not accord with the development plan
and that there were no material planning considerations to outweigh these problems.

For the avoidance of doubt the decision on the application hereby determined was made
having regard to the following plans:

Location, Block & Existing Elevations — Drawing Number PL JL S1 V1 2024
Site Plan — Drawing Number 207 PL 101,

Proposed Floor Plans — Drawing Number 207 PL 102 Rev A

Proposed Elevations — Drawing Number 207 PL 103 Rev A

Street Scene Elevation — Drawing Number 207 PL 106 Rev A

Background Documents:

P/25/00365/HOU

99



Documents uploaded to that part of the Council's website that is publicly accessible and
specifically relates to the application the subject of this report including all related consultation
responses, representations and documents submitted by the applicant in respect of the
application.

Notes.
This excludes all documents which are considered to contain exempt information for the purposes
of Schedule 12A Local Government Act 1972.

Reference to published works is not included.

100



[
|
A
1
—
[
—
—
[
—
]
[ O
[ ]
[ O
[ O

TOT

Existing West Elevation Existing East Elevation Existing North Elevation Existing South Elevation
Scale 1:100 @ A1 Scale 1:100 @ A1 Scale 1:100 @ A1 Scale 1:100 @ A1
Existing South West (Rear) Elevation Existing North East (Front) Elevation Existing North West (Side) Elevation Existing South East (Side) Elevation

92500

S
\Z 92500

_/

Garage

92400

92400

Site Location

[ _L = % Scale 1:1250 @ A1

Kitchen

Lounge/Diner

-

L

\ Utility

g \| Bathroom

o 4

~

A COPYRIGHT 71D LTD, ALL RIGHTS RESERVED.
THIS DRAWING MAY NOT BE COPIED OR

RE-USED IN WHOLE OR IN PART, WITHOUT

THE WRITTEN CONSENT OF 71D LTD.
MEASUREMENTS TO CHECKED BY CONTRACTORS
ON SITE BEFORE COMMENCEMENT OF WORK.

i Hallway
U

Client : Mr & Mrs Lydka
Address : 44 Minterne Road,
Mudeford, Dorset BH23 3LE

Project :Extension to ground floor

Bedroom Title : Existing site and plans

Bedroom

Scale Legend

Drawing N.O : PL JL S1 V1 2024
Drawn By : Matthew Austin / 71DESIGN
? Date : 16/ 02/ 2024

Scale : As indicated @ A1

SCALELSO‘HH\HH‘
0 1

SCALE 1100 ‘

|
2
| | \
2 3 4 5
\ |
20

Existing ground floor

Scale 1:50 @ A1 e 1o

BI k PI = Contact :Matt@71desi t
ontact :\Via esign.ne
ock Plan e M AETEN LR IDESIGN °
‘ 00 10 20 30 40 50 Tel : 07866497288

Scale 1:500 @ A1 architectural services



AutoCAD SHX Text
38

AutoCAD SHX Text_1
5

AutoCAD SHX Text_2
112

AutoCAD SHX Text_3
to

AutoCAD SHX Text_4
129

AutoCAD SHX Text_5
2

AutoCAD SHX Text_6
116

AutoCAD SHX Text_7
44

AutoCAD SHX Text_8
35

AutoCAD SHX Text_9
40

AutoCAD SHX Text_10
6

AutoCAD SHX Text_11
VICTORIA ROAD

AutoCAD SHX Text_12
10

AutoCAD SHX Text_13
3.0m

AutoCAD SHX Text_14
8

AutoCAD SHX Text_15
37

AutoCAD SHX Text_16
MINTERNE ROAD

AutoCAD SHX Text_17
38

AutoCAD SHX Text_18
5

AutoCAD SHX Text_19
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_20
112

AutoCAD SHX Text_21
to

AutoCAD SHX Text_22
118

AutoCAD SHX Text_23
129

AutoCAD SHX Text_24
2

AutoCAD SHX Text_25
54

AutoCAD SHX Text_26
116

AutoCAD SHX Text_27
120

AutoCAD SHX Text_28
119

AutoCAD SHX Text_29
110

AutoCAD SHX Text_30
1 to 4

AutoCAD SHX Text_31
55

AutoCAD SHX Text_32
44

AutoCAD SHX Text_33
35

AutoCAD SHX Text_34
40

AutoCAD SHX Text_35
47

AutoCAD SHX Text_36
6

AutoCAD SHX Text_37
VICTORIA ROAD

AutoCAD SHX Text_38
10

AutoCAD SHX Text_39
3.0m

AutoCAD SHX Text_40
8

AutoCAD SHX Text_41
37

AutoCAD SHX Text_42
MINTERNE ROAD

AutoCAD SHX Text_43
58

AutoCAD SHX Text_44
51

AutoCAD SHX Text_45
92400

AutoCAD SHX Text_46
92500

AutoCAD SHX Text_47
92400

AutoCAD SHX Text_48
92500

AutoCAD SHX Text_49
417300

AutoCAD SHX Text_50
417400

AutoCAD SHX Text_51
417300

AutoCAD SHX Text_52
417400

AutoCAD SHX Text_53
0

AutoCAD SHX Text_54
10

AutoCAD SHX Text_55
20

AutoCAD SHX Text_56
 m

AutoCAD SHX Text_57
%%UScale Legend

AutoCAD SHX Text_58
SCALE 1:500

AutoCAD SHX Text_59
0

AutoCAD SHX Text_60
2

AutoCAD SHX Text_61
4

AutoCAD SHX Text_62
6

AutoCAD SHX Text_63
8

AutoCAD SHX Text_64
10

AutoCAD SHX Text_65
20

AutoCAD SHX Text_66
SCALE 1:1250

AutoCAD SHX Text_67
0

AutoCAD SHX Text_68
10

AutoCAD SHX Text_69
20

AutoCAD SHX Text_70
30

AutoCAD SHX Text_71
40

AutoCAD SHX Text_72
50

AutoCAD SHX Text_73
SCALE 1:50

AutoCAD SHX Text_74
0

AutoCAD SHX Text_75
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_76
2

AutoCAD SHX Text_77
3

AutoCAD SHX Text_78
SCALE 1:100

AutoCAD SHX Text_79
0

AutoCAD SHX Text_80
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_81
2

AutoCAD SHX Text_82
3

AutoCAD SHX Text_83
4

AutoCAD SHX Text_84
5

Existing North East (Front) Elevation

Highlight

Highlight

Existing South East (Side) Elevation

Existing North West (Side) Elevation

Existing South West (Rear) Elevation

Highlight

Highlight

Highlight


This page is intentionally left blank

102



€0t

Om 10m
1:200

20m

Patio raised

—

46

-

Site Plan
1:200

30m

Jeremy Harvey Isaacs Architect

WWW.jeremyisaacs.co.uk mail@jeremyisaacs.co.uk

Use figured dimensions only This drawing is copyright ©

Rev Description Date
Mr & Mrs Lydka

44 Minterne Road
Christchurch, BH23 3LE

Site Plan

Project number
Date

207
05/03/2025

Scale:

101

1:200@ A3




This page is intentionally left blank

104



Patio raised
300mm

Key:

Approved application
Existing ~~ 8/24/0318/HOU

/ Proposed

//// Demolished

______________________ n r N "
_ [ L \ )
| —_— s b [ —
. b |
| | I
L | |
L - | 2 |
Kitchen / Living : | | Flat Roof |
| ' ¥ !
L B ' \ I
L1 | fo | N |
| )
M — | | J
| ; I = e
of 1_ T I | ’J o S . ‘C_)
| I
|
________ |
________ "
JPlayroom / Studio |
|
~ |
o |
|
. | £
[—— | £
REREER | (
et Bl
T | .
L :
Study
o
Bed 4 Approved I 2
application o~
8/24/0318/HOU
L/ i Juliet Juliet
Balcony Balcony
‘ Ground Floor
: <>
First Floor
| Rev Dfa'scrlpt!on Date Mr & Mrs Lydka Proposed Plans 102 A
Jeremy Harvey Isaacs Architect A Apprv'd outinerev 18 03 25

WWW.jeremyisaacs.co.uk mail@jeremyisaacs.co.uk

Use figured dimensions only This drawing is copyright ©

44 Minterne Road
Christchurch, BH23 3LE

Project number 207
Date 05/03/2025 Scale: 1:100 @ A3




This page is intentionally left blank

106



Materials:

@ White roof trim

@ White painted sand & cement render

® Slate roof

( e N ~' @ /,/

N < 7 B b= -

L - ' |

i 1 1 | = ==

| | I i |

| | |

| | |

| | |

| @ N — I [

| | L

North East Elevation (Front) Key: South East Elevation
_ — " Existing house
_—_ Approved application 8/24/0318/HOU
IS _ Refused application 8/24/0720/HOU
\]
®
®
® ]
— -
North West Elevation South West Elevation (Rear)
I [ [ e
Om 5m 10m 15m
1:100
Rev Descrlptfon Date Mr & Mrs Lydka Proposed Elevations 103 A
Jeremy Harvey Isaacs Architect A Apprv'd outinerev 18 03 25 .
44 Minterne Road

. . . i . Project number 207

www jeremyisaacs.co.uk mail@jeremyisaacs.co.uk Christchurch, BH23 3LE
! Date 05/03/2025 Scale: 1:100 @ A3

Use figured dimensions only This drawing is copyright ©




This page is intentionally left blank

108



[ N I B e T

Om 10m 20m 30m

1:200

i
//
[ | L
8 Victoria Road k | 48
Key:

60T

~ Existing house

Street Scene Minterne Road
_— " Approved application 8/24/0318/HOU
Nearby plannllng prefcgéje t. 14 \_/|ctor||a Roai]td - 8/21/0697/FUL - Nearby planning precedent: 12 Victoria Road -
Flat roof side extension (Plans4home) 8/23/0088/FUL - Mansard / flat roof side extension
(Dot Architecture Itd)
Rev Description Date Mr & Mrs Lydka Street Scene Elevation 106
44 Minterne Road
i 207
Christchurch, BH23 3LE :olecmumber , )
ate 05/03/2025 Scale: 1:200 @ A3

Jeremy Harvey Isaacs Architect

mail@jeremyisaacs.co.uk
This drawing is copyright ©

WWW.jeremyisaacs.co.uk
Use figured dimensions only




This page is intentionally left blank

110



	Agenda
	6 Confirmation of Minutes
	7 Public Issues
	PLANNING COMMITTEE - PROTOCOL FOR SPEAKING / STATEMENTS AT PLANNING COMMITTEE
	1. Introduction
	2. Order of presentation of an application
	3. Guidance relating to the application of this protocol
	4. Electronic facilities relating to Planning Committee
	4.1. All electronic broadcasting and recording of a Planning Committee meeting by the Council and the provision of an opportunity to speak remotely at such a meeting is dependent upon such matters being accessible, operational and useable during the m...

	5. Attending in person at a Planning Committee meeting / wholly virtual meetings
	5.1. Unless otherwise stated on the Council’s website and/or the agenda Planning Committee will be held as a physical (in person) meeting. A Planning Committee meeting will only be held as a wholly virtual meeting during such time as a decision has be...

	6. Provisions for speaking at Planning Committee (whether in person or remotely)
	6.1. Any applicant, objector or supporter who wishes to speak at a Planning Committee meeting must register a request to speak in writing with Democratic Services at democratic.services@bcpcouncil.gov.uk  by 10.00 am of the working day before the meet...
	6.2. A person registering a request to speak must:
	6.3. There will be a maximum combined time of five minutes allowed for any person(s) objecting to an application to speak.  A further combined five minute maximum will also be allowed for any supporter(s).  Up to two people may speak during each of th...
	6.4. If more than two people seek to register a wish to speak for either side, an officer from Democratic Services may ask those seeking the opportunity to speak to appoint up to two representatives to address the Planning Committee.  In the absence o...
	6.5. A person registered to speak may appoint a different person to speak on their behalf.  The person registered to speak should normally notify Democratic Services of this appointment prior to the time that is made available to speak on the applicat...
	6.6. A person may at any time withdraw their request to speak by notifying Democratic Services by email or in person on the day of that meeting.  However, where such a withdrawal is made after the deadline date for receipt of requests then the availab...
	6.7. During consideration of a planning application at a Planning Committee meeting, no question should be put or comment made to any councillor sitting on the Planning Committee by any applicant, objector or supporter whether as part of a speech or o...

	7. Questions to person speaking under this protocol
	7.1. Questions will not normally be asked of any person who has been given the opportunity to speak for the purpose of this Protocol.  However, the Chair at their absolute discretion may raise points of clarification.

	8. Speaking as a ward councillor or other BCP councillor (whether in person or remotely)
	8.1. Any ward councillor shall usually be afforded an opportunity to speak on an application at the Planning Committee meeting at which it is considered.  Every ward councillor who is given the opportunity to speak will have up to five minutes each.
	8.2. At the discretion of the Chair, any other councillor of BCP Council not sitting as a voting member of the Planning Committee may also be given the opportunity to speak on an application being considered at Planning Committee.  Every such councill...
	8.3. Any member of the Planning Committee who has exercised their call in powers to bring an application to the Planning Committee for decision should not vote on that item but subject to any requirements of the Member Code of Conduct, may have or, at...

	9. Speaking as a Parish or Town Council representative (whether in person or remotely)
	9.1. A Parish or Town Council representative who wishes to speak as a representative of that Parish or Town Council must register as an objector or supporter and the same provisions for speaking as apply to any other objector or supporter applies to t...

	10. Content of speeches (whether in person or remotely) and use of supporting material
	10.1. Speaking must be done in the form of an oral representation.  This should only refer to planning related issues as these are the only matters the Planning Committee can consider when making decisions on planning applications.  Speakers should no...
	10.2. A speaker who wishes to provide or rely on any photograph, illustration or other visual material when speaking (in person or remotely) must submit this to Democratic Services by 12 noon two working days before the meeting. All such material must...
	10.3. The ability to display material on screen is wholly dependent upon the availability and operation of suitable electronic equipment at the time of the Planning Committee meeting and cannot be guaranteed.  Every person making a speech should there...

	11. Remote speaking at Planning Committee
	11.1. In circumstances where the Council has put in place electronic facilities which enable a member of the public to be able to speak remotely to a Planning Committee meeting, a person may request the opportunity to speak remotely via those electron...
	11.2. The opportunity to speak remotely is undertaken at a person’s own risk on the understanding that should any technical issues affect their ability to participate remotely the meeting may still proceed to hear the item on which they wish to speak ...
	11.3. A person attending to speak remotely may at any time be required by the Chair or the Democratic Services Officer to leave any electronic facility that may be provided.

	12. Non-attendance / inability to be heard at Planning Committee
	12.1. It is solely the responsibility of a person who has been given an opportunity to speak on an application at a Planning Committee meeting (whether in person or remotely) to ensure that they are present for that meeting at the time when an opportu...
	12.2. A failure / inability by any person to attend and speak in person or remotely at a Planning Committee meeting at the time made available for that person to speak on an application will normally be deemed a withdrawal of their wish to speak on th...
	12.3. This protocol includes provisions enabling the opportunity to provide a statement as an alternative to speaking in person / as a default option in the event of a person being unable to speak at the appropriate meeting time.

	13. Submission of statement as an alternative to speaking / for use in default
	13.1. A person (including a councillor of BCP Council) who has registered to speak, may submit a statement to be read out on their behalf as an alternative to speaking at a Planning Committee meeting (whether in person or remotely).
	13.2. Further, any person speaking on an application at Planning Committee may, at their discretion, additionally submit a statement which can be read out as provided for in this protocol in the event of not being able to attend and speak in person or...

	14. Provisions relating to a statement
	15. Assessment of information / documentation / statement
	15.1. BCP Council reserves the right to check any statement and any information / documentation (including any photograph, illustration or other visual material) provided to it for use at a Planning Committee meeting and to prevent the use of such inf...

	16. Guidance on what amounts to a material planning consideration
	16.1. As at the date of adoption of this protocol, the National Planning Portal provides the following guidance on material planning considerations:

	Note
	For the purpose of this protocol:
	(a) reference to the “Chair” means the Chair of Planning Committee and shall include the Vice Chair of Planning Committee if the Chair is at any time unavailable or absent and the person presiding at the meeting of a Planning Committee at any time tha...
	(b) reference to the Head of Planning includes any officer nominated by them for the purposes of this protocol and if at any time the Head of Planning in unavailable, absent or the post is vacant / ceases to exist, then the Development Management Mana...
	(c) reference to ‘ward councillor’ means a councillor in whose ward the application being considered at a meeting of Planning Committee is situated in whole or part and who is not a voting member of the Planning Committee in respect of the application...
	(d) a “wholly virtual meeting” is a Planning Committee meeting where no one including officers and councillors physically attend the meeting; however, a meeting will not be held as a “wholly virtual meeting” unless legislation permits



	8a The Captains Club Hotel, Wick Lane, Christchurch BH23 1HU
	Captains Club Site Location Plan
	Captains Club Elevations
	Captains Club Ground and First Floor Plan
	Captains Club Proposed Site Plan Ground Floor
	Captains Club Roof Plan
	Captains Club second and third floor plans
	Captains Club Site Plan roof plan
	Captains Club Site sections

	8b The Bridge, 947 Christchurch Road, Bournemouth, BH7 6AZ
	The Bridge Location and Block Plan
	The Bridge elevations 1 of 2
	The Bridge elevations 2 of 2
	The Bridge ground and first floors
	The Bridge Second and Third Floor
	The Bridge fourth and fifth floors
	The Bridge sixth and roof floor

	8c 44 Minterne Road Christchurch BH23 3LE
	PL JL S1 V1 2024 Location Plan, Block Plan, Existing Floors & Elevations - 44 Minterne Road(10)
	Sheets and Views
	44 Minterne Road 28.04.24-Existing


	207 PL 101 Site Plan
	Sheets
	101 - Site Plan


	207 PL 102 Proposed Plans Rev A A3(3)
	Sheets
	102 - Proposed Plans


	207 PL 103 Proposed Elevations Rev A A3(6)
	Sheets
	103 - Proposed Elevations


	207 PL 106 Street Scene Elevation Rev A A3(1)
	Sheets
	106 - Street Scene Elevation






